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NEIGHBORHOOD DEVELOPMENT FUND
Not-for-Profit Transmittal and Approval Form

Applicant/Program: 1ransit Authority of River City / Trash Collection on Dixie Highway

Applicant Requested Amount: $4,732.00
Appropriation Request Amount:

Executive Summary of Request

Councilman David Yates and Councilwoman Cindi Fowler have requested TARC contract on their behalf to
have the trash receptacles collected along Dixie Highway in Districts 25 & 14. Hometown Hauling's charges
$14 per week, per location with 13 total locations (9 in District 25 & 4 in District 14) and 26 weeks remaining for
FY19 = a total of $4,732.00.

Is this program/project a fundraiser? []Yes [m]No
Is this applicant a faith based organization? [ ]Yes [m] No
Does this application include funding for sub-grantee(s)? [ ]Yes [m] No

I have reviewed the attached Neighborhood Development Fund Application and have found it complete and
within Metro Council guidelines and request approval of funding in the following amount(s). I have read the
organization's statement of public purpose to be furthered by the funds requested and I agree that the public
purpose is legitimate. [ have also completed the disclosure section below, if required.

L G0 o 2////9

District # Primary Sponsdr8ignature Amount Date

Primary Sponsor Disclosure
List below any personal or business relationship you, your family or your legislative assistant have with this
organization, its volunteers, its employees or members of its board of directors.

Approved by:

Appropriations Committee Chairman Date

Final Appropriations Amount:
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Boles, Brian

From: Yates, David

Sent: Friday, February 1, 2019 2:07 PM
To: Boles, Brian

Subject: TARC NDF Signature

Brian,

Please sign the TARC NDF for me for $3,276.00.

Thank you,

)
David Yates

Councilman

District 25

601 West Jefferson St, 3rd floor
Louisville, KY 40202

Email: david.yates@Ilouisvilleky.gov
Office: (502) 574-1125

Click HERE to sign up for the weekly District 25 eNews!

Notice of Confidentiality: This e-mail, including any attachments, is intended only for the use of the individual or entity to
which it is addressed and may contain confidential information that is legally privileged and exempt from disclosure under
applicable law. If the reader of this message is not the intended recipient, you are notified that any review, use, disclosure,
distributing or copying of this communication is strictly prohibited. If you have received this communication in error, please
contact the sender by reply e-mail and destroy (delete) all forms of the original message.



Applicant/Program:
Transit Authority of River City / Trash Collection on Dixie Highway

Additional Disclosure and Signatures

Additional Council Office Disclosure
List below any personal or business relationship you, your family or your legislative assistant have with this
organization, its volunteers, its employees or members of its board of directors.

Council Member Signature and Amount

District 1 $
District 2 $
District 3 $
District 4 A
District 5 $
District 6 $
District 7 $
District 8 $
District 9 $
District 10 $
District 11 $
District 12 $
District 13 ; y $
District 14 ( A4l Teuwdoe 5 4%
District 15 $
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LOUISVILLE METRO COUNCIL
NEIGHBORHOOD DEVELOPMENT FUND APPLICATION

Legal Name of Applicant Organization Transit Authority of River City

Program Name and Request Amount Trash Collection on Dixie Highway / $4,732

Yes/No/NA

Is the NDF Transmittal Sheet Signed by all Council Member(s) Appropriating Funding?

f

Is the funding proposed by Council Member(s) less than or equal to the request amount?

Is the proposed public purpose of the program viable and well-documented?

[%2]

Will all of the funding go to programs specific to Louisville/Jefferson County?

[}

Has Council or Staff relationship to the Agency been adequately disclosed on the cover sheet?

Has prior Metro Funds committed/granted been disclosed?

Is the application properly signed and dated by authorized signatory?

]

Is proof of Tax Exempt status of 501(c) 3,4, 6, 19, 1120-H included?

If Metro funding is for a separate taxing district is the funding appropriated for a program outside the
legal responsibility of that taxing district?

2 2R3

Is the entity in good standing with:
» Kentucky Secretary of State?
» Louisville Metro Revenue Commission?
» Louisville Metro Government?
» Internal Revenue Service?
» Louisville Metro Human Relations Commission?

Is the current Fiscal Year Budget included?

]
[}

Is the entity’s board member list (with term length/term limits) included?

9]
2}

i B

Is recommended funding less than 33% of total agency operating budget?

[}
()]

Does the application budget reflect only the revenue and expenses of the project/program?

4]
w

Is the cost estimate(s) from proposed vendor (if request is for capital expense) included?

[0}

Is the most recent annual audit (if required by organization) included?

Is a copy of Signed Lease (if rent costs are requested) included?

Is the Supplemental Questionnaire for churches/religious organizations (if requesting organization is
faith-based) included?

Are the Articles of Incorporation of the Agency included?

e

Is the IRS Form W-9 included?

Is the IRS Form 990 included?

Are the evaluation forms (if program participants are given evaluation forms) included?

Affirmative Action/Equal Employment Opportunity plan and/or policy statement included (if
required to do s0)?

Has the Agency agreed to participate in the BBB Charity review program? If so, has the applicant
met the BBB Charity Review Standards?

212 1211 Z Zz
EEIDZDEmE:DEm

Prepared by: Brian Boles Date: Jan 28, 2019
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LOUISVILLE METRO COUNCIL NEIGHBORHOOD DEVELOPMENT FUND APPLICATION

SECTION 1— APPLICANT INFORMATION
Legal Name of Applicant Organization:

Transit Authority of River City (TARC)

(as listed on: http.//www.sos. ky.gov/business frecords
Main Office Street & Mailing Address: 1000 W. Broadway
Website: www.ridetarc.org

Applicant Contact:  [Mark Adams Title: On Street Facilities Coordinator
Phone: 502-561-5109 Email: madams@ridetarc.org

Financial Contact: Tonya Carter Title: Finance Director

Phone: 502-561-5139 Email: tearter@ridetarc.org

Organization’s Representative who attended NDF Training:N/A
GEOGRAPHICAL AREA(S) WHERE PROGRAM ACT IVITIES ARE (WILL BE} PROVIDED
Program Facility Location{s): |Dixie Highway
Council District(s): District 14 and District 25 l Zip Code(s): ‘40258 & 40272
SECTION 2~ PROGRAM REQUEST & FINANCJAL INFORMATION

PROGRAM/PROJECT NAME:Trash Collection on Dixie Highway
Total Request: (S} ‘4,732 ' Total Metro Award (this program} in previous year: (S} lO
Purpose of Request {check all that apply}:

[W] Operating Funds (generally cannot exceed 33% of agency's total operating budget)

] Programming/services/events for direct benefit to community or qualified individuals

[] Capital Project of the organization (equipment, furnishing, building, etc)

The Following are Required Attachments:N/A

1/ IRS Exempt Status Determination Letter Signed lease if rent costs are being requested
4 Current year projected budget 1~ IRS Form W3
Current financial statement Evaluation forms if used in the proposed program
Most recent IRS Form 990 ar 1120-H Annual audit {if required by organization)
v Articles of Incorporation (current & signed) Faith Based Organization Certification Form, if applicable
’/cQst estimates from propased vendor if request s for
capltal expense

For the current fiscal year ending June 30, list alf funds appropriated and/or received from Louisville Metro
Government for this or any other program or expense, including funds received through Metro Federal Grants,

from any department or Metro Coundil Appropriation (Neighborhood Development Funds). Attach additional
sheet if necessary.

Source 1A Amount {S)
Source ’ Amount {3)
Source | Amount (3)

Has the applicant contacted the BBB Charity Review for participation? D Yes I_T_] No
Has the applicant met the BBB Charity Review Standards? []Yes []No

Page 1
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LOUISVILLE METRO COUNCIL NEIGHBORHOOD DEVELOPMENT FUND APPLICATION

[ e shcnONs-AeENOYREAG . ST T
Describe Agency’s Vision, Mission and Services:
TARC MISSION STATEMENT:

To explore and implement transportation o

pportunities that enhance the social, economic and environmentai well-
being of the Greater Louisville Communi

Applicant’s Initials M
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LOUISVILLE METRO COUNCIL NEIGHBORHOOD DEVELOPMENT FUND APPLICATION

B SECTION 4 - BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND PAID STAFF ]
Board Member Term End Date

Chairman Cedric Merlin Powell Aug 31,2019
Alice K., Houston Mar 27, 2021
Tohn Clay Stites un 30, 2020
Mary Morrow un 30, 2019
Maty Margaret Mulvihill Jun 30, 2020
Charles “Chuck” Rogers Mar 31, 2021
Michael Shackelford Jun 30, 2020
Dr. Joseph Wise ITT Jul 31, 2020
L

Describe the Board term limit policy:

N/A

—_—
Three Highest Paid Staff Names Annual Salary

These salaries do not seem pertinent since TARC is just

helping Districts 14 and 25. If they are needed, the salaries

Ee listed on line as government employees.

Page 3
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LOUISVILLE METRO COUNCIL NEIGHBORHOOD DEVELOPMENT FUND APPLICATION

- . - SECTION5—PROGRAM/PROJECT NARRATIVE - 5 Toi o

A: Describe the program/project start and end dates, a description of the program/project and applicable data
with regards to specific client population the program will address (attach related flyers, planning minutes,
designs, event permits, proposals for services/goods, etc.):

The purpose of this funding is to emp

ty trash receptacles along Dixie Highway @ 13 locations on a weekly basis
within District 14 and 25.

B: Describe specifically how the funding will be spent including identification of funding to sub grantee(s):

This funding will reimburse TARC*

s franchisee Outfront for trash collection service provided by Hometown Hauling
for 2019.

L

Page 4
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LOUISVILLE METRO COUNCIL NEIGHBORHOOD DEVELOPMENT FUND APPLICATION

! C lf >§.I1is request is a fundraiser, please detail how the proceeds will be spent:

| D For Expenditure Reimbursement Only - The grant award period begins with the Metro Council approval date
and ends on June 30 of Metro fiscal year in which the grant is approved. If any part of this funding request is for
funds to be spent before the grant award periad, identify the applicable circumstances:

[®] The funding request is a reimbursement of the following expenditures that will probably be incurred after the
application date, but prior to the execution of the grant agreement:

¥ If selecting this option, the invoice, receipt and payment documentation should not be available as of the date of this
application.

The Grantee will be required to submit financial reporting in accordance with the reporting schedule provided in the
grant agreement.

‘This reimbursement will only cover the period from 1/1/19 to 6/30/19,

[ Reimbursements should not be made before application date unless an emergency can be demonstrated
by the primary council sponsor. The funding request is a reimbursement of the following expenditures (attach
involices or proof of payment):
¥ Attach a copy of invoices and/or receipts to provide proof of purchase of activities associated with the work plan
Identified in this application,

! Attach a copy of cancelled checks to provide praof of payment of the Invoices or receipts associated with the work
| plan identified In this application.

Page 5
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LOUISVILLE METRO COUNCIL NEIGHBORHOOD DEVELOPMENT FUND APPLICATION

E: Describe the program’s benefits to those bein

g served (measurable outcomes). Include the program’s
process for collecting data and the indicators tha

t will be tracked to measure the benefits to those being served:

The residents of District 14 and 25 will benefit immensely by keeping trash receptacles emptied on a weekly basis.

F: Briefly describe any existing collaborative relationshi
organizations. Describe what those partners are bringing
program/project specifically.

ps the organization has with other community
to the relationship in genera! and to this

Page 6
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LOUISVILLE METRO COUNCIL NEIGHBORHOOD DEVELOPMENT FUND APPLICATION

SECTION 6 — PROGRAM/PROJECT BUDGET SUMMARY

THE PROGRAM/PROIECT BUDGET SHOULD REALISTICALLY ESTIMATE WHAT AMOUNT IS NEEDED FROM METRO

GOVERNMENT AND WHAT IS EXPECTED FROM OTHER SOURCES.

Column Column Column
1 2 {1+2)=3
; Proposed “::;; Total
Program/Project Expenses Metro Funds Funds
Funds
A: Personnel Costs Including Benefits
B: Rent/Utilities
C: Office Supplies
D: Telephone
E: In-town Travel
F: Client Assistance (See Detailed List on Page 8)
G: Professional Service Contracts $4,732 $4,732
H: Program Materials
I: Community Events & Festivals {See Detailed List on Page 8}
I Machinery & Equipment
K: Capital Project
L: Other Expenses (See Detailed List on Page 8}
*TOTAL PROGRAM/PROJECT FUNDS
% % 100%

List funding sources for total program/project costs in Column 2, Non-Metro Funds:

Other State, Federal or Local Government

United Way

Private Contributions {do not include individual donor names)

Fees Collected from Program Participants

Other (please specify)

*Total of Column 1 MUST match “Total Request on Page 1, Section 2”

**Must equai or exceed total in column 2.

Page 7
Effective May 2016
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LOUISVILLE METRO COUNCIL NEIGHBORHOOD DEVELOPMENT FUND APPLICATION

Detail for Client Assistance, Community Events &

Column

Column Column
Festivals or Other Expenses shown on Page 7 1 2 (1+2)=3
(circle one and use multiple sheets if necessary) Proposed Non- Total Funds
Metro Metro
Funds Funds

Total

]

Page 8
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LOUISVILLE METRO COUNCIL NEIGHBORHOOD DEVELOPMENT FUND APPLICATION

Detall of In-Kind Contributions for this PROGRAM only: includes Volunteers, Space, Utilities, etc. (Include
anything not bought with cash revenues of the agency).

Donor*{Type of Contribution Value of Contribution Method of Valuation

e ]t e gy e F Qe Al R
TNy L 7 fr-i i

(to match Program Budget Line Item.
Volunteer Contribution &0ther In Kind)

* DONOR INFORMATION REFERS YO WHO MADE THE IN KIND CONTRIBUTION. VOLUNTEERS NEED NOT BE
LISTED INDIVIDUALLY, BUT GROUPED TOGETHER ON ONE LINE AS A TOTAL NOTING HOW MANY HOURS PER
PERSON PER WEEK

Agency Fiscal Year Start Date: 7-1-19

Does your Agency anticipate a significant increase or decrease in your budget from the current fiscal year to the
budget projected for next fiscal year? NO ] YES []

If YES, please explain:

Page 9
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LOUISVILLE METRO COUNCIL NEIGHBORHOOD DEVELOPMENT FUND APPLICATION

R T A T, ""-'_ﬁ

SECTION 7 — CERTIFICATIONS & ASSURANCES

]

By signing Section 7 of the Granthplication, the authorized official signing for the applicant organization certifies and assures to the best of |
his or her knowledge and/or belief the following Assurances and Certifications. If there is any reason why one or more of the assurances or
certifications listed cannot be certified or assured, please explain in writing and attach to this application.

Standard Assurances

1. Applicant understands this application and its attachments as well as any resulting grant agreement, reports and proof of
expenditure is subject to Kentucky’s open records law.

2.  Applicant understands if the grant agreement is not returned to Louisville Metro within 90 days of its mailing to the applicant, the
approval is automatically revoked and the funds will not be disbursed to our erganization.

8.  Applicant and any sub grantee will give Louisville Metro Government access to and the right to examine all paper or electranic
records related to the awarded grant for up to five years of the grant agreement date.

4. Applicant assures compliance with the grant requirements and will monitor the performance of any third party (sub-grantee).

5. The Agency isin good standing with the Kentucky Secretary of State, Louisville Metro Government, the Jefferson County Revenue
Commission, the Internal Revenue Service, and the Louisville Metro Human Relations Commission.

6.  Applicant understands failure to provide the services, programs, or projects included in the agreement will result in funds being
withheld or requested to be returned if previously disbhursed.

7. Applicant understands they must return to Louisville Metro any uriexpended funds by July 31 following the Metro Louisville's fiscal
year end.

8.  Applicant understands they must provide proof of all expenditures (canceled checks, receipts, paid invoices). The Applicant
understands the failure to provide proof of expenditures as required in the grant agreement could result in funding being withheld
or request to be returned if previously disbursed.

9.  Applicant understands if this application is approved, the grant agreement will identify an award period that begins with the Metro
Council approval date, and will end with June 30 of the fiscal year in which the grant is approved. Expenditures associated with this
award expected to accur prior te the award period {(approval date) must be disclosed in this application in order to be considered
compliant with the grant agreement,

10. Applicant understands if we choose to incur expenditures prior to the approval of the application by the Metra Council, there is no
guarantee that funding will be reimbursed, as the Council may choose not to award the application.

11.  Applicant will establish safeguards to prohibit employees or any person that receives compensation from awarded funds from using
their position for a purpose that constitutes or presents the appearance of personal or arganizational conflict of interest, or personal
gain.

Standard Certifications

1. The Agency certifies it will not use Louisville Metro Government funds for any religious, political or fraternal Activities.

2.  The Agency has a written Affirmative Action/Equal Opportunity Policy.

3.  The Agency does not discriminate in employment or in provision of any service/program/activity/event based on age, color, disabled
status, national origin, race, religion, sex, gender identity or sexual orientation, or Vietnam era veteran status.

4.  The Agency certifies it will not require clients, recipients, or beneficiaries to participate in religious, political, fraternal or like
activities in order to receive services/henefits provided with Loulsville Metro Government funds.

5.  The Agency understands the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) and makes reasonable accommodations.

Relationship Disclosure: List below any relationship you or any member of your Board of Directors or employees has with any Councilperson,

Councilperson’s family, Councilperson’s staff or any Louisville Metro Government employee,

SECTION 8 — CERTIFICATIONS & ASSURA ‘j

| Tcertify under the penalty of law the Information in this application (including, without limitation, “Certifications and Assurances”) is

accurate to the best of my knowledge. 1am aware my organization will not be eligible for funding if investigation at any time shows

falsification. If falsification is shown after funding has been approved, any allocations already received and expended are subject to be

repaid. | further certify that | am legally authorized to sign 1 s appligatipn {#r the applying organization and have Initialed each page of the

application. i .

Signature of Legal Signatory: Date: / / :5> / / ?

T . i . L y — H » " =

Legal Signatory: {please print): o l iy L SO l . Title: ! .".1"1 .l & E Q n | M

Phone: Extension: Email:

Page 10
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COMMONWEALTH DF KENTUCKY
DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE
FRANKFORT
40601

518129
T-75

Iransdt Authority of Louisville & Jefferson Permikt Nimber: CT-56-143
County, DBA, Transit Authority of River City

302 Speed Building

Loulsville; Kentucky 40202

TOx

DATE: August 18, 1975
BUBJECT: Tax Free Purchases

Based on the informetlon submitted in yowr "Application for Classifi-
cation es en Exempt Unlt of local Government,” you are hereby muthorized
to make tax free purchases as provided by Regulation 103 KAR 30:225E,

& copy of this letier stionld be presented to the vexdor %o be retained

by him ss authorization to make such sales,

Every vendor making such sales must reguire an officisd or an employee
exercising eonpaxable authority of the locsl. govermmental wnit to sign
ehd dcknowledge fn writ on & copy of the imvolce thut the sale mnd
delivery of the property wus actually made to & wnit of Yocal govern-
ment, The invoice shall be rebained by the vendor as docuwsentary
evidence in stpport of his de ion of the &ale from gros€ recelphs
on his sales tax reburn. For proper reperting, the vendor must deduet
receipbs from these sales on line 22 of Yiis xeburn.

1t eny of the-j;mpex%y or service is nob nsed Yor an exempl j;mo-s;g-,
the purchaser will be reguired to pay any tax due on purchases made tax
free under this exenption, 4

In the event there 4s a change in your opgrations from the information
submitted in your applicatdion, you must nobtify the départment inmedistely.,

Clrude B. Slone
‘Director )
Sales and Severance Tax Bivieion
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BOEHL STOPHER & GRAVES Lip

AEGON CENTER - SUITE 2300
400 WEST MARKET STREET - LOUISVILLE, KENTUCKY 40202-3354

TELEPHONE: 502-589-5980
FACSIMILE: 502-561-0400

RECE}y :
FARL L. MARTIN I ED NO
PARTNER V 2'3 st
EXTENSION 224

EMARTIN@BSG-LAW.COM

November 20, 2015

Mr. J. Barry Barker

TRANSIT AUTHORITY OF RIVER CITY
1000 West Broadway

Louisville, KY 40203

RE: Occupational Tax Exemptions and Documents Relating to Establishment of TARC
Dear Barry:

You had asked us to try to determine whether there was ever any provision of the law that
provided any exemption of payment of the portion of the Metro Government’s occupational tax
attributable to funding for TARC. In short, I find no support for any exemption specific to the
transit tax portion of the Louisville Metro occupational tax.

The Louisville Metro Government assesses an occupational license tax on income earned
through the transaction of business within Jefferson County, pursuant to Chapter 110 of the
Louisville/Jefferson County Metro Government Code of Ordinances. The total tax is 1.45%,
consisting of a base tax of 1.25% and a 0.2% transit tax. The transit tax is authorized by KRS
96A.320(3), as originally approved by the public and.levied by adoption of the ordinances of the
City of Louisville and Jefferson County, and now the ordinances of Louisville Metre. The -
Revenue Commission is charged with enforcement and promulgation of regulations pertaining to
the occupational tax. §110.11." An additional 0.75% is assessed pursnant to state-granted school
district tax-levying ‘authority for the Jefferson County Public School district.” KRS -160.607.
Nonresidents of Jefferson County are--exempt by state statute from the portion of the
occupational license tax assessed for JCPS. KRS 160.6 }1 ; 160.483(6).. -

444 WEST SECOND STREET 410 BROADWAY 137 MAIN STREET. SUITE 200 ELSBY EAST - SUITE 204. 400 PEARL STREET

LEXINGTON, KENTUCKY 405071040 PADUCAH. KENTUCKY 42001 PIKEVILLE. KENTUCKY 41502 NEW ALBANY. INDIANA 47150
TELEPHONE: 859-252-672] TELEPHONE: 270-442-4369 TELEPHONE: 606-432-9670 TELEPHONE: 8[2-948-5053

FACSIMILE: 859-253-1445 FACSIMILE: 270-442-4689 FACSIMILE: 60G-432-9680 FACSIMILE: 812-948-9233



BOEHL STOPHER & GRAVES Lip

Mr. J. Barry Barker
November 20, 2015
Page 2

As it pertains to individuals, in relevant part, §110.02(A) of the ordinances levies the base
occupation tax on “[e]very natural person and business entity engaged in any business, trade,
occupation, profession, or other activity for profit in Louisville Metro” in the amount of “[ojne
and one-fourth percent of all wages and compensation paid or payable to every resident or non-
resident employee for work done or services performed or rendered in Louisville Metro.”

In addition to the base tax, §110.02(B) levies a transit tax upon “every person and
business entity engaged in any business, trade, occupation, profession, or other activity for profit
in Louisville Metro” in the amount of “[o]ne fifth of one percent of all wages and compensation
paid or payable to every resident or non-resident employee for work done or services performed
or rendered in Louisville Metro.” Relevant to TARC, §110(C) provides:

(C) All occupational license taxes, plus any applicable interest and
penalties, received by the Commission pursuant to subsection (B) above,
less a fixed charge for services rendered in the amount of 1.35% of the net
receipts thereof, shall be paid over monthly into, and pending
disbursement be held in, a separate and special trust fund identified as the
Mass Transit Trust Fund to be used solely for purposes of the Mass
Transportation Program approved by the electorate of Jefferson County,
November 5, 1974, and as provided in KRS Chapter 96A.

§110.05(A) directs that “[e]Jvery employer making payment of compensation to an
employee shall deduct and withhold upon the payment of the compensation the license tax
imposed under §110.02 of this chapter.” §110.05(B) provides that employers file quarterly
returns for withholdings, but §110.05(C) provides that if quarterly withholdings are more than
$3,000, then the tax shall be paid monthly.

There are some exemptions applicable to the occupational tax. First is for income earned
for work performed outside of the county, as such income is not subject to the tax by its terms.
For example, “[ajn employee who has compensation attributable to activities performed outside
the Louisville Metro area, based on time spent outside the Louisville Metro area” may file for a
refund of taxes withheld for such compensation. §110.05(1). Inaddition, the ordinances provide
that certain activities are exempt from the tax (most dictated by state law). §110.03. These
include public service corporations that pay an ad valorem tax, banks, telecommunications,
investment funds, election-work income, National Guard training income, insurance companies,
alcoholic beverage manufacturing or trafficking, de minimis yard sales, Derby parking income,
ministers, venture capital funds, and family-owned investment income. In addition to these,
boards of trade, chambers of commerce, unions, foundations and charitable entities are exempt
entities not subject to tax.



BOEHL STOPHER & GRAVES Lip

Mr. J. Barry Barker
November 20, 2015
Page 3

As noted, the JCPS tax does not apply to non-residents of Jefferson County by statutory
exemption. I find no parallel exemption for the base occupational tax or the transit tax based on
residency. Indeed, on this point, the Revenue Commission’s instructions to the Occupational
License Tax Return (Form OL-3), specifically states:

The following persons are subject to the Louisville Metro, Kentucky, and
Transit Authority of River City occupational tax rate of (.0145), but are
not subject to the School Boards’ occupational tax rate of (.0075):

1. An employee whose legal residence is not within Louisville
Metro, Kentucky.

2. A sole proprietor whose legal residence is not within Louisville
Metro, Kentucky.

And the Revenue Commission’s Regulations provide “[The] Boards of Education license
fee, unlike the other wage/net profit license fees, is not imposed on individuals working in
Jefferson County who are not residents of Jefferson County.” The Regulations further provide
some background as to the history of the transit tax (emphasis added):

In 1970 the General Assembly adopted legislation, codified at KRS
Chapter 96A, authorizing the formation of Mass Transit Authorities, and
providing as one alternate method of funding such Authorities, a wage/net
profit license fee, but only if such a license fee were approved by
referendum. In 1974 the voters of Jefferson County did approve a
referendum enacting an additional wage/net profit license fees to support
the Transit Authority.

The Transit Authority license fee was imposed by Jefferson County Fiscal
Court Ordinance 6, Series 1974. Currently, the tax is imposed by Jefferson
County Ordinance 13, Series 1989 on all persons who are employed in
Jefferson County, whether or not they are residents of Jefferson

County.

I have not been able to locate copies of those specific ordinances, but as noted above the current
codification of the Louisville Metro ordinances directing the levy of the occupational tax contain
no exemption contradicting the above-emphasized residency characterization.

In addition to the applicable ordinances, statutes, and regulations, I’ve gone back and
reviewed relevant documents relating to the establishment of TARC. These include the original



BOEHL STOPHER & GRAVES LLp

Mr. J. Barry Barker
November 20, 2015
Page 4

ordinances and resolutions of the Jefferson County Fiscal Court and the City of Louisville Board
of Aldermen, and amendments thereto, the former Louisville and Jefferson County Cooperative
Compact, and the current Metro ordinance with respect to the establishment of TARC. Also, as
you requested, 1 have reviewed our prior research relating to the merger of the city and county
for any discussion regarding the occupational tax.

In short, they do not have any provisions which provide for any exemption with respect
to the transit tax. The only reference I find to the occupational tax is in the city’s 1979 ordinance
regarding the enlargement of the service are to adjoining counties, in which Section 1 provides
that “the deficit expenditures resulting from service within each such [adjacent] county served
shall not exceed two-thirds of the amount of the mass transportation program occupational
license tax fee revenue estimated to be received from the residents of the particular county
served.”

I attach copies of the aforesaid documents, although for brevity I have left out copies of
the various merger legislation bills which was also part of the research file.

Should you have any further questions, please let me know,

Very TIW,_,
T

Earl L. Martin III

Enclosures
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ORDINANCE NO. (é SERIES, 1971,

AN ORDINANCE RELATTING TO THE ESTABR-
LISHMENT OF THE"TRANSIT AUTHORITY
OF LOUISVILLE AND JEFFERSON COUNTY"

PREAVBLE

WHEREAS, the General Assembly of the Commonwealth of Kentucky hss enacted
the Kentucky Transit Authority Act (KRS Chapter 964}, and

WHEREAS, under the provisilons of sald Kentucky Transit Authordty Act, any
city or county, or one or move cities or counties acting in concert, are authordized
to create and establish a mass transit authority to promote and~develop mass trans-
pozjtation In its transit area, and

WHEREAS, sald Kentucky Transit Authority Act provides that the business,
activities and affairs of such transit authority shall be managed, controlled and
conducted by a Board consisting of members appointed by .the appointing authorities
of any pbblic body creating such a mass trensit authority, and

WHEREAS, the Mayor is designatéd by Statute (KRS 96A.040) as the “appoint-
ing authority” of any city creating, individuslly or Jointly with another body,
such & mass transit authority. and as such " appointing authority" is authorized to
appoint certain members of sald Board which is empowered to manage, control and
cohduct the business and affairs of such mass transit autherity, and

WHEREAS, £H8 Board of Aldermen arid:bhe Mayor of the City of Louisville
find that the crestion and establishment of such a mass transit authordty ©&r the
purposes aforesald will be heneficial to the citizens of the City of Louisville;

NCW, THEREFORE, in order to create and establish such z joint mass transit
authority as authorized by the Kentucky Transit Authority Act:
BE IT CRDAINED BY THE BOARD OF ALDERMEN OF THE CITY OF LOUISVIIIE:

Sectlon 1. That there is hereby created and established, in conjunction
with Jefferson County, Kentucky, a joint mass transit authordity to be entitled
"Transit Authority of Toulsville and Jefferson County' under the authority granted

TS G 0% 4K Ca A aDam
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oy Chapter 96A (The Kenbucky Transit Authority Act) of the Rentucky Revised
Statutes, for the purpose of promoting and developing mass transportation in
this transit area, and said Transit Authority shall act pursuant to and under
the provisions of the Xentucky Transit Authority Act.

Section 2. That salid Transit Authority of Loulsville and Jefferson
shall be a political subdivision and a publiec body corporate whose business
activities and affairs shall be managed, controlled and corkducted by a Board
conslsting of eight members appointed by the Mayor of the City of Loulsville
and the County Judge of Jefferson County, Kentucky as provided by said
Kentucky Transit Tremedds Authorlty Act.

' Seation 3. That the Mayor of the City of Loulsville, Kentucky is
hereby authordzed to appoint four of such members of sald menaging Board at
such times, and in such form and manner as is specified in KRS 96A.040.

Bection 4, That the provisions of this Ordinance are severable. If
any sentence, clause or Section or part of this Ordinance or the application thereof
to any particular state of case 1ls for any reascn found to be unconstitubional
or invlaid, such unconstitutionality or invalidity shall not affect or repeal

any of the remaining provislons, sentences, clauses or Sectlons or parts of this

Ordinance.

APPROVED AS TO FORM
\g%ﬁgﬁé e

HERBERT VAN ARSDALE I
Assistant Director of Law
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ORDINANCE NO./4% SERIES 1977
AN ORDINANCE AMENDING CHAPTER
269 OF THE CODIFIED GENERAL
ORDINANCES WHICH CHAPTER IS
ENTITLED "TRANSIT AUTHORITY OF
RIVER CITY".
BE IT ORDAINED BY THE BOARD OF ALDERMEN OF THE CITY OF LOUISVILLE:
SECTION 1. That Section 269.01 and 269.02 of Chapter
269 of the Codified General Ordinances which sections are
entitled respectfully "Establishments" and "Fstablishment
of Board; and Appointing of Members", be and the same are
hereby amended so that the joint mass transit authority of
Louisville and Jefferson County shall hereinafter be entitled
"Transit Authority of River.city“.
SECTION 2, This Ordinance shall take effect upon

its passage and approval.

APPROVED s {2 27 277 ZE/ :

MAYOR
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LOUISYILLE AND JEFFERSON COUNTY COMPACT
A3 PABSED BY THE BOARD OF ALDERRMEN AND
FISCAL COURT ON JUNE 24, 1986.

This Is a Cooperative Compact as provided for in 1986 Kentucky Acts
Chapter 77 between the CITY OF LOUISVILLE, KENTUCEY (hereinafter called

"City") and JEFFERSON COURTY, BENTUCKY (hereinafter called "County").

SECTION! - OCCUPATIONAL LICENSE FEES

(A) Occupational license fees collected by the City and the County shall
be divided between the City and the County in accordance with the formula

established in 1986 Kentucky Acts Chapter 77 and as set forth in Seetion KC)~

herein.

=

(B) As used in Section I of this Cooperative Compact, the following words
are defined as follows unless the ‘context otherwise requires:
\« (1) - "Base year collections” means the amount ‘of combined
collections received by the Ci:cy and the County in calendar year 1385;

(2) "Collections" means the sums received (excluding penalties and
interest) by the'City and the County in a calendar year from its occupational
lHcense fee levy.

&) "Ccmbined‘ inflation-adjusted base®™ means the base year
colections of the City and the County adjusted by the incresse or-decrease in the
consumer price index by using 1985 as the base year. Each year the combined
Inflation-adjusted base shall be computed by multiplying the consumer price index
in December of that year by base year collections and dividing the product by the

December 1585 consumer price index;

' bec g9 ‘57 10:40 SE2 561 5244 PAGE. B4
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(4) “Consumer price {ndex" means the index for all urban consumers
as published by the Unlted States Department of Labor, Buremu of Labor
{ .?" Statisties;

. (3)  "Occupational license fees" mean's license fees levied upon wages
and net profits by the City pursuant to KRS 91.200 and by the County pursuant to
KRS 68.180, but shall not Include occupational license fees imposed for
educational purposes pursuant to _KRS Chapter 160, for mass transportation_
Programs pursuant to KRS 96A.310 through 36A.370 or license fees or taxes on
insurance premiums for the privilége of engaging in the business of insurance.
; (C) Effective In 1986, the Sinking Fund of the City shall caleulate the
dfstribution of the combined collections from the occupational license fees in -
accordance with the formula established by this subsection (C) instead of in
accordance within which jurisdiction the situs of the person or business éubject to
the tax is located. This sectlon shall not change the manner in which such license
Rt fees afe levied or collected by the City and County and the fees therefore; but
; merely directs that the e:.:mbinled collections from such license fees be
apportloned between the City and the County to reflect the sharing of
responsibilities and obligations agreed to by the City and the County in this
Cooperative Compaect,

(1) If combined collections from oceupational license fees in any
calendar year are less than or equal to the base year collections, fifty-eight and
seven hundred and thirty-five thousandths percent (58.735%) of such combined
collections shell be apportioned to the City and forty-one and two hundred and
sixty-five thousandth_s.-percent (41.285%) of such combined collections shall be

apportioned to the County.

‘D’EC B'é. ’9?: l1lzi:41~ AP BA1 5244 PARE 05
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2y 1f combined collections ere greater than the base year

collections but less than the comblned inflation-adjusted bese, the amount equal

T to the base year collections shall be divided between the City and County in

( accordance with paragraph (1) of this subsection, and the remainder of combined

collections shall be divided so that the City gshall be spportioned i’iftymine and

geven tenths perecent (59.7%) of such remainder and the County shall be
apportioned forty and three tenths percent (40.3%) of such remainder,

(3) If combined ecollections in any calendar year exceed the
cambined inflaetion-adjusted base, the amount of combined collestions equal to the
combined inflation-adjusted base shall be divided between the City and the
County in accordance with paragraph (2) of this subsection, ten percent (10%) of
. the combined collections in excess of the combined Inflation-adjusted base shall
- be apportioned In accordanee with paragraph (4) of this subsection, and the
T-« remaining ninety percent (30%) shall be apportioned so that fifty-seven and two
N tenths percent (57.2%) of the remainder shall be apportioned to the City and
forty-two and eight tenths percent (42.8%) of the remalnder shall be apportioned
to the County.

(4) Ten percent (10%) of the combined collesctions in excess of the
combined inflation-adjusted base shall be apportioned to the City or the County in
accordanece within which jurisdiction the growth in combined collections cecurred.
If the increase In combined collections is_attributable to Increased collections in .
both jurisdictions, the City and the County shall each be apportioned =
pércent&gé of the ten percent (10%) equal to the percentage of the increase in
combined collections that is attributable to the increasse In collections in its

jurisdietion.

DEC @9 ‘9-'? 18:42 Sgz 5Bl 5244 PAGE. 86
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(5)  The Sinking Fund may establish administrative regulations to be

used to apportion collections. Such administrative regulations must be approved
N

by the Board of Aldermen and Fiseal Court prior to their implementation.

——

(6) Penalties and interest will be dlst‘ributed to the City and County
) for the duration of this Cooperative Compact in the same manner as such receipts
| were distribﬁted prior to the effective date of this Cooperative Compact.

(D) The City and County recognize the basis for this Cooperative Compact
Is the sharing of current and future occupational tax revenue for the purpose of
providing county-wide services t;) the citizens of the City and County. The City
and County further recognize that any unilateral, voluntary reduction of such
occupational tax revenues violates the spirit of this Cooperative Compact.
Therefore, if:

(1)  Either the City or the County lowers its occupational tax rate
or changes the occupational tax base without the concurrence of the other entity;
or

(2) The County .contracts with a ecity of the second through gixth
class to credit such a8 clty'z lcense fee agalnst the County's license fee as
provided for in KRS 68.180 without concurrence of the City on such & contract;
or

(3) Either the Clty or tha County contracts with an agency pursuant
to 1988 Kentucky Aets Chapter 13, which suthorizes tax inerement financing, for
the release of occupational tax without the coneurrence of the other entity;
during the term of this Cooperative Compact, then the entity that reduces such
- occupationsl tax revenues shall compensate the other entity for such reduction.

Concurrence required by this Section shall be by formal action of the Mayor and

DEC 83 97 10:42 562 561 5244 PAGE. 87
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Board of Aldermen on behalf of the City and Fiscal Court on behalf of the
County.

o SECTION II - ANNEXATION

The Board of Aldermen of the Clty of Loulsville and Jefferson County Fiscal
Court, each having independently considered the complex issues involving
annexations by citles of all classes in Jefferson County, and each body having
examined the problems .which exist as a result of the Clty's commitment not to
annex durh:lg the term of this Cooperative Compact, do find, as matters of
- lagislative fact, that:

- (A) Government reorganization has been twice considered and rejected by .
the voters of Jefferson County. It is thus spparent that long and eareful study of
the entire question of how best to provide the services of lecal government in
Jefferson County 1s necessary. This Cooperative Compact, which is to remain In
effect for the next twelve years, will facilitate this consideration by stabilizing
the boundaries of the City and the unincorporated ares of the County during the
time publie officials of both the City and County are examining the best way to
provide loéal government services as we approach the twenty~first century.

(B) During this twelve year peried, the County reslizes that the City winl
continue to have under consideration 23 one alternative the continuation of the
annexations now being p'ropcsed by the City. The City, however, agrees
‘simultaneously to consider other slternatives to annexation and as = result the
twelve year term of this Cooperative Compaect is not intended to and shall not in
any way adversely impaet the City's annexation priorities. Therefore, the City

and the County agree as follows:

" DEC 95 '9% 12:43 Su2 561 5244 PAGE. P8
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(1)  Once 8n ordinance stating the intention of the City to annex an
area hag been given {ts first reading or enactad by the Board of Aldermen, no part
of such area may be incorporated or be annexed by another city, unless such
Incorporation or annexation {5 pending st the time the ordinance is given its first
reading, until the annexation proposal by the City iz defeated pursuant to
subsections (E) and (F) of this Section of untjl \the ordinance is withdrawn or
repealed or amended as to the ares to be anfiexed.

(2)  This subsection shall apply to any ﬁroposing ordinance which has
had a first reading or has been enacted as of January 1, 1386,

{3) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this subsection, any
snnexation by & clty other than Louisville, or Incorporation prior to January 1,
1986, shall not be nullifled by the application of 198§ Kentucky Acts Chapter 77;
provided, however, the Clty shall retain its legal annexation priorities which
existed on January 1, 1986 to the territory zo annexed or incbrporated. In faet,
thé City snd County, t;nving fully reviewed and examined the City's proposing
ordinances previously of record, ahd having determined that the City hag priority
with respect to the remainiﬁg unincorperated territory In the County to which it
is econtiguous, do hereby recognize that tpis priority shall remain in effect
throughout the term of this Cooperative Compact without the need for the City
to take any further steps to insure the malntaining of said priority.

(4) The boundaries of the City shall remain as estabiished by law
unless changed pursuant to the procedures get forth in Section I of this
Cooperative Compact.

(5) Upon the termination of this Cooperative Compact, boundary
éhanges shall be governed by the provisions of KRS 81A.010 et seq.
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(C) The City and County have found that it is necessary to maintain the
status quo of the boundaries in Jefferson County in order to insure further
efficient governmental services by the City and County. Therefore, recognizing
that less proliferation of municipalities may maice it easler and less costly to
provide services in the City and County, the City and County do hereby agree to
fully coopérate in blocking any incorporated Clty's attempt to annex
unincorporated territory within the County and any unincorporated territory's
attempt to incorporate as a munlelpality. In so doing, the City and County
raecognize that further proliferation in Jeffe.rson County through incorporations or
annexations would constitute an unreasonable way of providing public services and
would unreasonably prefudice them. ‘

(D) Any annexation of unincorporated territory by the City during the .
term of this Cooperative Compsaet shell be pursuant to the procedures established

by 1886 Kentucky Aects Chapter 77 and ss set forth in. Section II of. this
Cooperative Compact. |

(E) When the City desires»to annax unix;corpornted territory, the Board of
Aldermen of the Clty shall enact an ordinance stating the intention of the City to
annex. If an ordinance proposing to annex unineorporated territory has been
enacted prior to the effective date of this Cooperative Compsaet and the
ordinance annexing the territory to the City has not been enacted, then in order
for the 'City to annex the territory during the time this Cooperative Compacet is in
effect, the Board of Aldermen shall re-enact the ordinence only including the
same territory as the original ordinance and stating the Intention of the City to
annex, Such ordlnances shall =ccurately define the boundary of the
unincorporated territory proposed to be annexed, and declare it deslrnb_le to annex

the unincorporated territory.
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(¥) The Mayor of the City shall deliver a certified copy of the ordinance

.
to the County Clerk of the County In which the territory proposed te be annexed
- Iz located, who shaill have prepared to be placed before the voters in each precinet
ﬂ embraced in whole or in part within the territory proposed to be annexed the
f} question: "Are you in favor of being annexed to the City of Louisville?" 1f only a
part of any precinet is embraced within ihe territory proposed to be annexed only

{— persons who reside within the territory proposed to be annexed shall be permitted
- to vote. The County Clerk shall cause the sheriff or sheriffs to deliver to the
i; ; election officers in each precinet in the appropriate counties copies of the
I‘ ordinance proposing to annex:

) (1) £ more than fifty percent (50%) of those voting on the question -
__ approve of the annexation, the Board of Aldermen may proceed to annex the -
o territory. Within sixty (50) days of t.he eertification of the election results in
. which more than fifty percent (50%) of those voting in the election approved the
}\..‘" annexation, fhe Board of Aldermen may enget an ordinance annexing the

- territory. Upon enactmant of.the ordinance the territory shall become part of the
'r City for all purposges; or
- (2) If fifty percent (50%) or less of those voting on the question
_ apprdve the annexation, the ordinance proposing mnnexation shall become

ineffectual for any purpose subject to the provisions of KRS B1A.460.
. BECTION HI -~ BOARDS, COMMISSIONS AND AGENCIES
| This Cooperative Compaect represents the beginuing of an effort by the City
: . and County and their citizens to provide professional, efficient, equitable
representative and accountable servicei for all residents of the City and County.
-

pEC o9’ rg7 18:45 582 561 5244 PAGE. 11



EXEC DIRECTOR TEL:502-561-5244 Dec 09’97 10:39 No.004 P.12

Joint boards, commissions and agencles altered by this Cooperative Compact will
be part of an organizational chart with clear lines of suthority to either the City
- or the County. The result will be clear policy and fiseal accountability to local
government &3 well 83 an opportunitj for increased coordination of services

among the Joint boards, commissions, agencies and local governmental

LR

departments. The participation and input by citizens through the advisory entities
Insures that the boards, commissiéns and sgencies are invested in, owned by and
sre an integral part of the community.

(A) The specific boards, commissions and agencleg hereinafter contained

in this Cooperative Compact ghall be altered as each speecific section details so

that the centrol and responsibility for such board, commission or agency will .
) _ hereinafter lie with either the City or the County, or-the City and County jointly. N
- Unless amended by this Cooperative Compact, all ordinances' or resolﬁtions
] pregently in effgct which govern the powers, duties and responsibilities of the
\r\/ boarcis,- commissions or agencies hereinafter contained, shall remain in full force
! and effect.

(B) Pursuant to KRS 65.210 et seq., the Clty and County specifically
provide by the provizions of this Cooperative Compact that the powers, privileges
and authorities exercised or capable of being exercised by either the City or the
County through the boards, commissions or agencies herelnafter amended, are to
be exercised by the board, commission or agency, or jointly by the City and
County, or by either the City or the County geting as agent for the other publice
body enywhere within the territorial limits of Je_t‘ferson County. '

J (C} In additfon to complying with any speeific gualification requirements
estahlished . by statute, ordinance or resolution, the Mayor and County

Judge/Executive, to the extent practicable, when making appointments to joint

AR O LT SO TP o
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entitles herelnafter contained shall take into sccount the demographic
chafacter!st!cs of the City and the County, including, but not limited to, race,
_l sex, geograplile location, expertise and diversity appropriate and relevant to the

purpose of the specific entity.

SECTION IV - PROVISIONS AFFECTING TRANSITION

(A) All employees transferred by this Cooperative Compact from

employment. by the City, the County or a board, ecommissfon or agency to
{ : employment with a different entity shall carry over all accumulated benefits into

i the new employment. This includes, and Is limited to, the carry over of

scaumulated sick leave, vacation, compensatory time, senfority or any other .

]

accumulated benefit regardless of whether the employment to which the

[
]
LS

por amployee Is transfarred'auows; such aceumulation. The use of suech aceumulated
. benefit shall be in accordance with the_ regulatione of the entity to whieh the
~— ;:mplo'yee Is transferred. After such transfer employees shall be entitled to
| receive only those benefits prdvlded by the employing entity to its employees.

(B) Notwithstanding the provislons hereinafter exempting the employees
of certain értmsitioned entities from the City's residency ordinance, (specifically
the Sections concerning Human Relations, Zoo, Disaster and Emergency Services,
i Library, Parks and Economie Development Office), an Individual employee who,
5 because of a change In status, is no longer an officer, employee or on the staff
devoted solely to the support of that exempted entity, shall be subject to the
City's residency ordinance.

(C) Any cause of action which arose during the operation of a bnard,
commission, agency or department ag a joint City/County entity changed by this

Cooperative Compact te elther a City or County board, eommission, agency or

b ' 10
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department which results In an adverse judgment shall be deemed the jolnt and
several labillty of both the City and the County regardless of which government
Is transferred the fiscal responsibility of the former joint entity by this
Cooperative Compaet., Representation of all .Iega_l actions pending at the
effective date of this Cooperative Compact will continue to be the responsibility
of the govefning entity presently providing representation.

{D) Assets belng used by a b_oard, commission or ageney affected by this
Cooperative Compact, x:egardleSs of ownership, shall continue to be used for the
benefit of the Soerd, commission or agency unless this Compact speeificelly
provides otherwise. During the term of this Cooperative Compact if any assets
ai-e no longer needed by a board, commission or agency, then such assets shall be .
returned to the parties according to the contribution of the parties toward the N
asset. Transfer of ownership of such assets when necessary for such purposes as
insuranc; caverage, rgpair or réplacement, ete. shall be negotiated by the City
and Couﬁty on a case-by-case basiz. Such sssets Include, but are not limited to,
self-Insurance trust funds, re:;xerve accounts, lapsed funds, personal property and
real property.

(E) The City and County by the actions taken under this Cooperative
Compact do not abrogate any governmental immunities which are established by

oparation of law.

BECTION V - GUIDELINES FOR EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

(A) A1l Directors of departments, boards, commissions or agencies in thia
Cooperative Compact which are to be appointed either jointly or separately by
the Mayor, and the County Judge/Executive with the spproval of Fiseal Court,

shall be selected on the bas!s of professional personnel policles In the aress of

11
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recruitment, screening and the setting of minimum qualifications which are
currantly in use by the Clty and County.
r'I ZB) Realistie minimum requirements that are predictive of success in the
L perfdr'mance of the job shall be established and followed. Qualifications
l“} _ commonly relaquired of emplayees or directors in all places of employment shall be
understood to be implled. The qualifications include, but are not limited to,
professional experience and accepted professional standards in the field or =
reloted field.

(C) The Mayor and the County Judge/Executive when appointing an

executive director either jointly or separately shall seek the advice of or consult

—_—

with the board, commission, ageney or authority affected thereby.

Ca SECTION VI ~ AJIR POLLUTION CONTROIL DISTRICT
‘ {(Organized and governed by KRS Chapter 77)

(A) Pursuant to KRS 77.065, az amended by 1986 Kentucky Acts Chapter
77, the County shall provide all staff support, including & sec¢retary-treasurer and
an air pollution control officer, to the Air Pollutlon Control Board through County
officers, assistants, clerks, deputies and employees. The staff of the Air Pollution
Control Board, ineluding the secretary-tressurer and the air pollution control
offfcer, shall be deemed County employees and shall be subject to the contral of
Piseal Court. Effective August 1, 1986, the employees of the Air Pollution
Control District shall be transferred to the service of the County government;
provided that &1l such employces who are in the classified service at sueh time
shall be continued in a classified service administered by County Government,

(B) Pursuant to KRS 77.070, as amended by 1988 Kentucky Acts Chapter

77, the Air Pollution Control Board shall consist of seven (7) members, four (4) of

12
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(S) Seetion XII of this Cooperative Compact supersedes and replaces the
Interlocal Agreement entered into by the Clty and County on July 5, 1984, and
= recorded in Miscellaneous Records Boock 120, Page Number 282 of the County
Clerk of Jefferson County and any other agreemer;t or enactment of the City and
County that created a Disaster and Emergency Service. (County Resolution No.

24, Series 1984; City Codified General Ordinance Sections 35.075 - 35.034).

—_ SECTION XTIV - TRANSIT AUTHORITY OF RIVER CITY
- (Organized and governed by KRS Chapter 964)

(A) Pursuant to KRS 96A.040, as amended by 1986 Kentucky Acts Chapter

; 77, and subject to the initial adjustment of the terms of sitting members provided

- for in 1986 Kentucky Acts Chapter 77, the terms of the members on the Transit
Authority of River City Board shall be for three (3) years and until their
successors are appointed and qualified. Upon the effective date of 1986 Kentueky
Acts Chapter 77, the terms of the members sitting on the Board shall be adjusted
by separate action of the Mayor, and the County Judge/Executive with the
approval of Fiscal Court.

- (B) Pursuant to KRS 96A.070, as amended by 1986 Kentucky Acts Chapter
77, during the term of this Cooperative Compact, the executive director and a
secretary-treasurer or any individual, corporation or partnership, elther by
contraet or employment, who serves as executive director or secretary~treasurer
in the management of the affairs of the Board, shall be appointed by and serve at

- the joint pleasure of the Mayor, and the County Judge/Executive with the
approval of Fiscal Court pursuant to KRS 87.040.

(©) Al provisions of KRS Chapter 96A which direct the operation of a

mass transit system shall continue to govern the operation of the Transit

Cw
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Authority of River City unless a change as allowed by law is specifically

snumerated within this Cooperative Compact or by subsequent ordinance or

resolution of the City or County.

SECTION XV - METROPOLITAN SEWER DISTRICT
(Organized and governed by KRS Chapter 76)

—
LS

(;'1 (A) Pursuant to KRS 76.030, as amended Sy 1986 Kentucky Acts Chapter
71, during the term of this Cooperative Compact, the terms of the members of
, l the Metropolitan Sewer District Board shall be for three (3) years and until their

guccessors are appointed and qualified. 'Upon the effective date of 1986 Kentucky

0y
L

Acts Chapter 77, the terms of the members sitting on the Board shall be adjusted
by ‘separate action of the Mayor, and the County Judge/Executive with the
approval of Fiseal Court, |
B (B) Pursvant to KRS 76.060, as amended by 1986 Kéntucky Acts Chapter
77, during the term of this Cooperative Compact, the executive director;
; | secretary-treasurer and chief engineer of the Metropolitan Sewer District shall be
appointed by and serve at the Joint pleasure of the Mayor, and the County
Judge/Executive with the approval of the Fiseal Court pursuant to KRS 6§7.040.

(C) Pursuant to KRS 76.030(1), no more than three (3) of the Mayar's
appointments and two (2) of the County Judge/Execuvtlye's&appoint_ments to terms
beginning after July 15, 1986, shall be of the same ‘politleal party affiliation.

(D) Al provisions of KRS Chapter 76 which direet the operation of the
Metropolitan Sewer District shall continue to govern the operation of
Metropolitan Sewer Distriet unless a change as allowed by law ig specifically
enumerated within this Cooperstive Compaet or by subsequent ordinance or

resolution of the City or the County.
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[

i (J) In the event of the dissolution of the office, the unused funds
appropriated to t_he sccount and any assets not otherwise disposed of the Office

N shall be returned to the parties according to the percentages In which the sums

{_ . had been sppropriated to the Office.

[:x (K) Sectlon XVIII of this Cooperative Compact supersedes and replaces

City Ordinance No 70, Serles 1986, which created a Department of Economie

Development.

——

—_—
!

SECTION XIX - QUALITY AND CHARITY TRUST PUND

The Quality and Charity Care Trust Agreement entered Into on January 27,
1983, by and among the County, the City, the University of Louisville, tha

Commonwealth of Kentucky and Humana of Virginia, Inc. set forth the joint

obligatlons of the City and the County. The City and County by separate action

-

of the Board of Aldermen and Fiscal Court have amended the joint funding

\_ ~ responsibilities betwaen the City and County.

BECTION XX - DURATION

This Cooperative Compact shall be for & period of twelve (12) years and
shall terminate on June 30, 1998, except that if any mandatory provision of 1988
Kentucky Aects Chapter 77, is sdjudicated invalid or if any provision of 1988
Kentucky Acts Chapter 77, is amended or repealed by subsequent aect of the

General Assembly, this Cooperative Compact shall immediately terminate.

SECTION XXI - EFFECTIVE DATE

This Cooperative Compact shall take effect on July 1, 1986. Provided,
however, any provision authorized only by 1986 Kentucky Acts Chapter 77 will

take effect on the effective date of 1986 Kentucky Acts Chapter 77.
) 50
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SECTION XX -~ AMENDMENT OF COOPERATIVE COMPACT

This Cooperative Compact may be amended by the City and the County,
px;ov!ded that no such amendment shall confliet with the provisions of 1986

Kentucky Acts Chapter 77.

SECTION XXIIT - SEVERABILITY

If any part of this Cooperative Compact is held unconstitutional or invalid
the remaining parts shell remain in force, unless 198§ Kentucky Acts Chapter 77
provides otherwise, or unless | the remaining parts are so essentlally and
Inseparably connected with and dependent upon the unconstitutional or invalid
part that it is apparent that the City and County would not have enacted the
ramaining parts without the unconstitutional or invalld part, or unless the
remaining parts, standiné glone, are incomplete and incapable of being executed
In accordance with the intent of the City and County.

SECTION XXIV - TITLES

Titles, headingz and notes, and explanatory notes and cross references,
within this Cooperative Compact, do not constitute any part of this Cooperative
Compact and are Inserted for the convenience of reference only and are not to be
qonsidered in the construetion of the provisions and shall not in any way limit the

8cope or modify the substance or context of this Cooperative Compact.

SECTION XXV - ENTIRETY OF AGREEMENT

This Cooperative Compact constitutes the entire agreement of the City and
County with respeet to the pravisions of this Cooperative Compact and supersedes
all prior agreements and understandings of the City and County in connectlon with

the subfect matter of thig Cooperative Compact.

51
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|

r

In testimony whereof, the Mayor of the City and the County

;\ Judge/Executive of the County subscribe their signatures in their offieial
T capacities pursuant to enabling legislation passed by the Board of Aldermen and
( . Fiscal Court. A
'.{:"I
CITY OF LOUISVILLE COUNTY OF JEPFERSON
Ordinanee No. HQ, Series 1986 Resolution No. jé, Series 1986
Enacted Jy ne 24, 1986 Enacted Jne 24 1986
,r , -
£ /
1 BY: V, . __BY:
' RRY/E. ABRAMSON, Y I. SLOANE,
oo AATOT COUNTY JUDGE/EXECUTIVE

APPROVED AS TQ FORM:

447 )«E/ C Q"\,('«LQ/’

"
FRANE X. QUICKERT, JR MIKE CONLIFFE [ [/~
DIRECTOR OF LAW COUNTY ATTORNEY

Insofar as sections of this Cooperative Compact comply with the Interlocal
Agreament Act, this Compact is in proper form and is compatible with the laws of
the Commonwealth; therefore, It is approved this Lﬁé‘day of
1988.

DAVID L. ARMSTRONG
: ATTORNEY GENERAL
COMMONWEALTH OF K CKY
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LOUISVILLE/JEFFERSON COUNTY

METRO GOVERNMENT

The Metro Code is current through Ordinances passed by the Council and
approved by the Mayor as of September 28, 2015

§ 32.720 ESTABLISHMENT.

(A) Appointments by the Mayor to the Transit Authority shall require approval of the Metro
Council. Pursuant to KRS 96A.040, the terms of the members on the Transit Authority of River
City Boards shall be for three years and until their successors are appointed and qualified.

(B) Pursuant to KRS 96A.070, the Executive Director and a Secretary-Treasurer or any
individual, corporation, or partnership, either by contract or employment, who serves as
Executive Director or Secretary-Treasurer in the management of the affairs of the Board, shall be
appointed by and serve at the pleasure of the Mayor.

(C) All provisions of KRS Ch. 96A which direct the operation of a mass transit system shall
continue to govern the operation of the Transit Authority of River City unless a change as
allowed by law is specifically enumerated within the Cooperative Compact or by subsequent
ordinance or resolution of the Metro Government.

(Lou. Metro Am. Ord. No. 44-2003, approved 3-17-2003)

Editor's Note:
This section is derived from the Louisville and Jefferson County Cooperative Compact, § 14.
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BY TELECOFIER

Mr. J. Barry Barker

TRANSIT AUTHORITY OF RIVER CITY
1000 West Broadway

Louisville, KY 40203

RE:

Dear Barry:

HERBERT F. BOEHL
t1ep4-19886)
JAMES M. GRAVES
1912-1994)

A. J. DEINDOERFER
{1907-1990)
RAYMOND O, HARMON
(1918-1990)
WILLIAM M. NEWMAN, JR.
(1949-1995)

OF COUNSEL

JOSEPH E. STOPHER
GALEN J. WHITE, JR.
W.T. ADKINS

December 8, 2000

444 WEST SECOND STREET
LEXINGTON, KENTUCKY 40507
(859) 252-672t
FAX {859) 253-1445

410 BROADWAY
PADUCAH, KENTUCKY 42001
(270) 442-43689
FAX {270) 442-4689

287 WEST COURT STREET
PO, BOX 606
PRESTONSBURG, KENTUCKY 41653
(606) 886-8004
FAX (60€) 88€-8579

ELSBY EAST - SUITE 204
400 PEARE STREET
NEW ALBANY, INDJANA 47150
1812} 948-5053
FAX (812) 948-8233

City-County Merger

We have undertaken a first review of the possible effect
of the city-county merger on TARC. Obviously much cannot yet be

determined,

since the details have not been worked out.

The 2000 legislature enacted Chapter 67C of the Kentucky
Revised Statutes to provide a framework for Louisville-Jefferson
County merger. A number of the provisions of the new statute are
fairly straightforward and may be applicable to TARC. These
provisions include the following:

1. The statute provides that the new
government has the powers and
authorities of both city and the
county.

2. For purposes of applying for or

receiving grants from the state or
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the federal government, the
consolidated local government is
considered both a county and a city
of the first class.

3. The existing ordinances and
regulations of the city and the
county remain in effect for five
yvears from the date the new
government takes effect. Thereafter
they expire, unless reenacted by the
new consolidated government.

One technical issue could affect the very existence of
TARC. The creation of TARC is &duthorized by the state legislature
through KRS Chapter 96A. However, TARC was actually created by
ordinance and resolution adopted by the Board of Alderman and the
Fiscal Court. As noted above, existing ordinances, resclutions, and
regulations of the city and county remain in effect for only five
years unless reenacted. Arguably, someone could argue that, absent
re-authorization, TARC's existence expires after five years. On the
other hand one could argue that TARC, having been established as a
separate corporation, now has its own independent legal existence,
even 1f the initial authorizing resolutions expire. Further, KRS
Chapter 67C provides that all taxing districts and any other
service districts of any kind are to continue in existence. I do
not, however, see any definition in the chapter of the term
“service districts.” I do not think the term necessarily includes
TARC, but may well include only divisions of the city and county
themselves. The safe route probably is to have the new merged
government confirm TARC sometime during the next five years.

You specifically inquired as to the effect of merger on
composition of TARC’s board, and whether TARC could have board
members from Bullitt and Oldham Counties in Kentucky and Floyd and
Clark Counties in Indiana. These are really three separate issues.

KRS 96A.040 governs the managing boards of transit
authorities. The board’s composition is determined based upon
whether the transit authority was “created and established” by
single or multiple government entities. While the statute
contemplates and provides for the subseguent joining of additional
public bodies, it does not address the possible merger of bodies
who are part of the joint proceedings establishing the authority or
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even the possibility that an establishing body might “drop out” of
the transit authority.

The statute provides that a single city or county
“establishing” a transit authority may name the eight members for
the authority’s board. A joint transit authority established by two
bodies is also to have eight board members, four named by each. KRS
96A.040(1) (b). I believe the most logical interpretation would be
that the merged government will be the successor to each of 1its
constituent parts and may thereby exercise its inherited authority
to name all eight members. This idea is reinforced by KRS 67C.115
mentioned above, which provides that ordinances, resolutions and
regulations will continue in effect for the merged entity for five
years. I do not believe that the act of mergexr of the city and
county by itself frees up seats on the board for other counties. We
of course are sailing into uncharted waters on this point, because
there is no case law giving guidance on the issue.

In any event, even without consideration of the merger,
KRS 96A.040(d) would not allow a board member from another county
unless that county formally becomes a part of the transit
authority. That reguires the approval of the current constituent
governmental members. In this case Louisville and Jefferson County
would have to approve, or the merged government would have to
approve. Thus, for example, if Oldham and Bullitt Counties were
approved for membership in the authority, they could each have c¢ne
director, and the board would increase to ten.

The question of additional members from Indiana counties
seems somewhat more complicated. KRS 96A.210 authorizes cities and
counties of this state which abut the boundaries of another state
“jJointly with another county, municipality, or political
subdivision of such abutting state . . . to become a part of the
existing transit authority as authorized by this chapter.” Thus it
seems clear that Clark and Floyd counties may Jjoin the authority,
if approved by Louisville and Jefferson County, or the new merged
government, and it would seem logical that such counties could have
a board member just as a joining Kentucky county. This, however,
seems to require interpreting the intent of the legislature rather
than accepting its actual words. KRS 96A.040(d) states that a
joining “public body” may select a director. “Public body,”
however, is defined in KRS 96A.010 as “any city or county of the
Commonwealth.” The definition of public body does not include an
Indiana city or county. Thus it is possible to argue that although
an Indiana county can be a part of the authority, it may not have
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any authority to name a director. I would assume the legislature
did not intend such results; however, I do not know that we can be
sure. I suppose we could either request an Attorney General’'s
opinion on the point, or seek to have the statutes amended. There
is also the possibility of having Indiana counties send

representatives to participate in board meetings without a right to
vote.

I note that the Fiscal Court and Board of Aldermen have
previously passed a resolution and ordinance expressing consent to
permitting counties adjacent to Jefferson County te join the
.transit authority. This occurred in the late 1970s. Both make
reference to the enlargement of the authority to include adjacent

counties, and neither restricts such enlargement to Kentucky
counties.

You also specifically requested our views on funding
issues resulting from the merger. KRS 67C.123 provides that current
taxes of the city and county shall remain unaltered until changed
by the merged entity. It does not seem to me at this point that
TARC’s funding will be affected by the merger. There is nothing in
the Jefferson County budget indicating that the county has allotted
funds to TARC, and the financial impact report concerning merger
lists budgeted expenditures from all sources of revenue as being
allocated to TARC by the city alone. Obviously, the merged entity
could change this in the future, but the act of merger itself
without further action would not seem to change TARC’s funding
circumstances.

Please be sure to call if you have any questions and as
other questions arise.

Very truly yours,
'ﬂg/ Qz h
[ / AL im
7 T
Jeféfgécn K. Streepey

JKS :mk



MEMO —
TO: Jeff Streepey
FROM: Earl Martin
DATE : December 7, 2000
RE: TARC; Merger Implications

The only issues that merger would appear to give rise to are
(1) board composition and appointment and (2) £funding. After
reviewing all the materials I can find on the establishment and
operation of TARC, I see no other areas that involve any kind of
disparate treatment between the city and county. The only other
possibility I can think of would be contracts by which TARC
benefits, such as labor agreements perhaps, that might involve the
county or city as a party.

Board Issues

There were two gquestions posed with regard to the board.
First, what effect will the merger have on board composition, and
second, do Indiana counties served by TARC have a right to have
members on the board? These questions. are addressed in turn.

Board Composition

First, KRS 86A.040 governs the managing boards of transit
authorities. The board’s composition is determined based upon
whether the transit authority was “created and established” by
single or multiple government entities. While the statute
contemplates and provides for the subsequent joining of additional
public bodies, it does not address the possible merger of bodies
who were part of the joint proceed%ﬁgs establishing the authority
or even the possibility that an estgblishing body might “drop out”
of transit authority membership. Thus it is unclear what effect
such a decrease in membership would have upon the transit
authority.

The statute ©provides that a single «c¢ity or county
“establishing” a transit authority may name the eight members for

the authority’s board. A joint authority established by two bodies



will also have eight board members, four named by each authority.
KRS S96A.040(1) (b). There are no statutes or cases that give
guidance on the issue of merging joint governmental bodies. I
think the most logical interpretation would be that Greater
Louisville will be the successor to each of its constituent parts
and thereby may exercise its inherited authority to name the eight
members. This idea is reinforced by the fact that KRS 67C.115
provides that ordinances, regulations, and orders will continue in
effect for the merged entity for five years unless amended or
reenacted.

The alternative would be to re-establish the transit authority
under the new entity (and whatever other counties would
participate), and this may be necessary anyway given that the prior
ordinances cease to have effect in five years. This would require
the formalities of enabling ordinances and compliance with Chapter
96A (including such minor elements as changing the name of the
transit authority to conform with KRS 96A.020(1) if the merged
entity were the only one establishing the authority).

Indiana Counties

Second, it would appear that the Indiana counties can have
representatives on the board. As already alluded to, KRS
96A.040(d) contemplates the possibility that governmental bodies
may join an authority after the authority has been created. That
statute provides that “with the concurrence and approval” of the
current governmental members, a joining public body may name no
more than one additional member to the board. KRS 96A.210
authorizes cities and counties of this state which abut the
boundaries of another state “jointly with another county,
municipality or political subdivision of any such abutting state. ..
to become a part of an existing transit authority as authorized by
this chapter.” Thus the Indiana counties may join the authority
and each have their own board member if Greater Louisville agrees,

and the board will be composed of Greater Louisville’s eight



members plus one additional member for each county that thereafter
joins the authority.

I note that the Fiscal Court and Board of Aldermen have
previously passed a resolution and ordinance expressing assent to
permitting counties adjacent to Jefferson County to Join in the
transit authority (both bear the date of February 28, but one is
dated 1978 while the other is dated 1879). Both merely make
reference to the enlargement of the authority pursuant to Chapter
96A to adjacent counties, and neither restricts such enlargement to
Kentucky counties only. It is possible that this resolution and
ordinance continues in effect for the purpose of allowing adjacent
Indiana counties to join the authority. The one obstacle to this
interpretation, however, is the fact that KRS 96A.010 defines
“County” to mean “any county in the Commonwealth.” Thus it is
possible that the resolution and. ordinance do not extend to
Indiana counties because they incorporate this restricted
definition by reference and because they do not explicitly allow
for counties of other states. If that is the case, then new action
will be required expressing assent to the addition of adjacent non-
Kentucky counties.

Funding Issues

KRS 67C.123 provides that current taxes shall continue
unaltered until changed by the merged entity. The concern 1is
clearly whether TARC obtains financing from multiple sources that
will be considered redundant upon merger and therefore be
eliminated. I was able to locate no information in the Jefferson
County budget indicating that the county has allotted funds to
TARC, arid the financial impact report regarding merger lists
budgeted expenditures from all sources of revenue as being
allocated to TARC by the city alcone. Thus, it is not clear from
the information available that merger would have any funding impact
upon TARC absent unforeseen future action on the part of the merged

entity.



February 7, 2001

BY TELECOPIER

Mr. J. Barry Barker

TRANSIT AUTHORITY OF RIVER CITY
1000 West Broadway

Louisville, KY 40203

Dear Barry:

You left a voice mail message last week related to tax
issues in the event the Transit Authority is expanded to include
additional counties. I believe the import of your question was
whether a single, Jjoint proposal for funding by the imposition of
a tax could be submitted to the voters of all the counties in the
Authority, or whether taxation must be approved county by county.
If your question is something else, please be sure to call.

KRS ©96A.320 provides that the public bodies which
constitute the membership of the Transit Authority may “acting
either individually or jointly” submit to either the electorates of
such public bodies or the electorates of the whole transit area
proposal for additional property taxes, occupational license taxes,
or sales taxes to support the Transit Authority.

This statute does not oblige the member counties to act
jointly; however, it does authorize them to do so if they wish.

Since this is a Kentucky statute, it would not have
application to Indiana counties which are members of TARC. Indiana

COPY
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counties, however, are permitted to enter into agreements with
counties of other states for the joint exercise of county power.
Indiana Code 36-1-7-2. Such an agreement must be in writing, and
since it is between bodies of different states, must be approved by
the Indiana Attorney General. Although the Indiana statute i1s not
specific, presumably Indiana counties could agree with Kentucky
counties to alsc submit taxing proposals. Obviously the fact that
Indiana’s tax structure is different from Kentucky’s would make
identical proposals more difficult.

In any event the law would permit TARC’s member counties
to act in concert on tax issues, but would not require it.

Call me if you have questions, or if I have misunderstood
your inguiry.

Very truly yours,

Jefferson K. Streepey

JKS :mk



MEMO
TO: Jeff Streepey
FROM: Earl Martin
DATE : February 7, 2001
RE: TARC; Joint proposal for funding

TARC wants to make a single joint proposal for funding by
imposition of a tax, binding upon all counties serviced by the

authority.

As already noted, there is no Constitutional or statutory
obstacle to the imposition of a license tax by each of the counties
that are members of TARC. Furthermore, KRS 96A.320(3) permits the
Kentucky members of TARC to Jjointly submit a single proposal for
financing a mass transportation program by license tax to the
entire electorate of the transit area.

In addition, 96A.210 permits interstate transit authorities,
and 96A.370 empowers Kentucky counties to enter into joint
agreements with “all other units of government, both federal and
state, for the... operation of mass transportation facilities.”
The term “facilities” is not defined by the statutes.

Indiana permits its counties to enter into agreements with
counties of other states for the joint exercise of a county power.
IC 36-1-7-2. Such an agreement must be in writing, satisfy certain
requirements, and since it is between bodies of different states,

be approved by the Indiana attorney general. 36-1-7-3; 36-1-7-4.



MEMO

TO: Jeff Streepey

FROM: Earl Martin

DATE: February €, 2001

RE: TARC; Funding by other counties

Some question has been raised about the possibility of TARC
obtaining funding from cities and counties other than Greater
Louisville after the merger. As I understand it, the concern
involves (1) whether there are statutory restrictions on the types
of funding available to TARC, and (2)- whether counties may impose
a license or occupational tax to fund TARC.

It would appear that there are no evident statutory
restrictions on the funding of a,trpnsit authority, and counties

may impose license or occupational  taxes for such a purpose.

First, KRS 96A.090(2) states that

The governing body of any public body participating in
the creation and establishment of an authority, or in the
subsequent enlargement thereof, may, in the proceedings
or joint proceedings, or - by subsequent action,
appropriate and pay over to an authority from its general
funds or from other resources not required by law to be
appropriated for other purposes, any sum or sums of
money, or any property which such public body shall
determine to be necessary or advisable in furtherance of
the public purposes of the authority as set forth in this
chapter.

In addition, 96A.120 provides

For the purposes of... adding to, extending, operating,
or improving one (1) or more mass transportation
systems... an authority may, in addition to other methods

permitted by law, resort to fimancing according to any of
the following financing methods, or any combination
thereof, to the extent not inconsistent, one with
another:

(1) Upon determination of its financing needs, an
authority, by resolution of its ‘board, may request the
public  body responsible for - its creation and
establishment, or any one (1) or more of the public
bodies if there be more than one (1):



(a) To appropriate and pay over to the
authority all or any part of the amount determined to be
necessary...

Thus, there would appear to be no restriction on the funding of
TARC by the imposition of a tax.by its public Dbody members,

assuming that tax is permissible under the law.

It would also appear that cities and counties do have the
authority to impose license or occupational taxes. 92.280(2)
provides that “[tlhe legislative body of each city of the second to
sixth class may impose license fees... on franchises, trades,
occupations and professions, and may provide for the collection of
such fees.” 82.281(1) states “[clities of all classes are
authorized to levy and collect any and all taxes provided for in
Section 181 of the Constitution....and,to use the revenue therefrom
for such purposes as may be provided by the legislative body of the
city.” 92.281(5) does restrict the taxing power of cities of the
sixth class, however, limiting the means of assessment:

License fees on businesses, trades, occupations, or
professions may not be imposed by a city of the sixth
class at a ©percentage rate on salaries, wages,
commissions, or other compensation earned by persons for
work done or services performed within said city of the
sixth class nor the net profits of businesses,
professions, or occupations from activities conducted in
said city of the sixth class.

The purpose of a tax or license fee imposed by a city of the second
to sixth class must be specified by ordinance and applied solely
for that purpose. 92.330.

Counties similarly may impose a license or occupaticnal tax
upon their residents in addition to a property tax. OAG 85-84 (a
fiscal court may levy only two taxes: (a) ad valorem and (b)
occupational or license taxe;)}. 68.180 (counties having a
population of 300,000 may impose a license tax of 1.25%); 68.197(1)

(counties having a population of 30,000 may impose a license fee of

1%). Such taxes or fees may be credited against similar taxes paid



to a city. 68.190; 68.197(3). Furthermore, it would appear that
population is irrelevant in determining whether counties may impose
a license or occupational tax. Caseyv County Fiscal Couty v. Burke,

Ky., 743 S.w.2d 26 {1988). Section 181 of the Constitution

authorizes the General Assembly to delegate the power to tax to all
counties. 67.083 allows any county to impose an occupational
license tax. In particular, 67.083(m) gives counties the power to
“levy taxes” and “appropriate funds” in the provision and operation
of public transportation systems. The limitations that statutes
place upon taxing power can only apply to those counties governed
by the statute given this general conferral of taxing authority.
Casey, 743 S.W.2d at 27-28.



MEMO

TO: Jeff Streepey

FROM: Earl Martin

DATE: May 15, 2002

RE: TARC; City-County merger legislation

House Bill 659 intersects TARC’s organization and operations

in the following items:

L The appointive authority of the city and county executives
is vested in the mayor of the consclidated local government
pursuant- to a new sectian of KRS +$7C. HBR &59 S§1. Such
appointments “should reflect the diversity of the population
within the Jjurisdiction of the consolidated local government.”
HB 659 §1(l1). The particular implementation with regard to TARC

appears below.

e The following language 1is appended toc KRS 96A.040¢(6),

pertaining to board member appointment and terms:
Upon the establishment of a consolidated local
government in a county where a city of the first class
and a county containing such city have had in effect a
cooperative compact pursuant to KRS 78.310 to 785.330,
all members of the board shall be appointed by the
mayor of the consolidated local government pursuant to
the provisions of Section 1 of this Act for a term of
three (3) years. Incumbent members upon the
establishment of the consolidated local government
shall continue to serve as members of the board for
the time remaining of  their current term of

appointment.



HB 6598 §117.

® The following language 1is appended to KRS 96A.070(9%),

pertaining to the appointment of the executive director or

secretary-treasurer:
Upon the establishment of a consolidated local
government 1in a county in which a city of the first
class and a county containing the city have had 1in
effect a cooperative compact under KRS 79.310 to
79.330, an executive director or secretary-treasurer
shall be appointed by and shall serve at the pleasure
of the mayor.

HB 659 §118.

The first five sections of the bill are the meat of the
legislation, providing for new statutes assigning powers to the
mayor and the metro council. The remaining 295 pages of the bill
are clean-up, inserting “consolidated local government” and
similar terms where appropriate in current statutes, as well as
explicitly clarifying the mayor’s assumption of the county
judge/executive’s powers, as for example in the Chapter 96A

sections above.

HB 659 contains no provisions regarding assumption of contracts
previously with the c¢ity or county. KRS 67C.010 provides
consolidated local government with the power to contract and
states that they “replace and supersede” the city and county
governments. KRS 67C.107(4) provides that all labor contracts
with cities or counties shall continue in effect against the
consolidated local government. KRS 67C.115 provides that
“ordinances, regulations, and orders” of the city and county will

continue to govern the consolidated local govermnment.



MEMQ

TO: Jeff Streepey

FROM: Earl Martin

DATE: May 285, 2002

RE: TARC; City-County merger legislation

House Bill 659 provides parallel amendments of the sewer
district implementing statutes in Sec. 77, amending KRS 76.030 to
provide that in a merged government the mayor appoints all board
members, and in Sec. 78, amending KRS 76.060 to add the following
language: “Upon the establishment of a consolidated local
government in a county where a city of the first class and a
county containing such city have had in effect a cooperative
compact pursuant to KRS 79.310 to 79.330, the executive director,
secretary-treasurer, and chief engineer shall be appcinted by and

serve at the pleasure of the mayor.”

Similar amendments are made with respect to the riverport
authority (board members appointed by mayor and executive
director to serve at the pleasure of the mayor), correctional
services (the executive director is to serve at the pleasure of
the mayor), the air pollution control district (the board members
are appointed by the mayor), the housing authority (executive
director is to serve at the pleasure of the mayor), regional park
and recreational system (members of advisory board are to serve
at the pleasure of the mayor), and library advisory board
(members of the advisory board are to serve at the pleasure of

the mayor).
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

Board of Directors
Transit Authority of River City
Louisville, Kentucky

Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the Transit Authority of River City (TARC), a
component unit of Louisville/Jefferson County Metro Government, as of and for the year ended June 30, 2018,
and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise TARC's basic financial statements
as listed in the table of contents.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the design,
implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our
audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the standards
applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of
the United States. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of
the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk
assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of
the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for
the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. Accordingly, we express
no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit
opinion,

Opinion
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial

position of TARC as of June 30, 2018, and the changes in its financial position and its cash flows thereof for the
year then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

(Continued)



Emphasis of Matter

As discussed in Note 2 to the financial statements, during the year ended June 30, 2018, TARC adopted new
accounting guidance, GASB Statement No. 75, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Postemployment Benefits
other than Pensions, which resulted in a restatement of the TARC’s July 1, 2017 net position in the amount of
($18,956,523). Our opinion is not modified with respect to this matter.

Other Matters
Required Supplementary Information

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management's
discussion and analysis, the schedule of changes in TARC's net pension liability and schedule of TARC
contributions for the Employee’s Amended Retirement Plan,, the schedule of TARC’s proportionate share of the
net pension liability and schedule of TARC contributions for the County Employees’ Retirement System — Non-
hazardous, the schedule of TARC's proportionate share of the net OPEB liability, and the schedule of TARC’s
OPEB contributions as listed in the table of contents be presented to supplement the basic financial statements.
Such information, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental
Accounting Standards Board, who considers it to be an essential part of the financial reporting for placing the
basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. We have applied certain
limited procedures to the required supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards generally
accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of
preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency with management's responses to our
inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial
statements. We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited
procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance.

Supplementary Information

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the financial statements that collectively
comprise TARC’s basic financial statements. The schedule of revenues, expenditures and changes in net
position — budget to actual as listed in the table of contents is presented for purpose of additional analysis and is
not a required part of the basic financial statements.

The schedule of revenues, expenditures and changes in net position — budget to actual is the responsibility of
management and was derived from and relates directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to
prepare the basic financial statements. Such information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied
in the audit of the basic financial statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and
reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic
financial statements or to the basic financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in
accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, the
schedule of revenues, expenditures and changes in net position — budget is fairly stated, in all material respecits,
in relation to the basic financial statements as a whole.

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated October 2, 2018, on
our consideration of TARC’s internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its compliance with certain
provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other matters. The purpose of that report
is to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance and the results
of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That
report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering
TARC'’s internal control over financial reporting and compliance.

Crwe LLP

Crowe LLP
Louisville, Kentucky
October 2, 2018




TRANSIT AUTHORITY OF RIVER CITY
(A COMPONENT UNIT OF LOUISVILLE/
JEFFERSON COUNTY METRO GOVERNMENT)
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
Year ended June 30, 2018

Financial Highlights and Current Known Facts, Decisions and Conditions

The management of the Transit Authority of River City (TARC) presents this narrative overview and analysis
of the financial activities for the fiscal year ending June 30, 2018.

In FY2018, TARC continued to face significant operating revenue challenges. While FY2019 promises to
be a year of significant positive developments with continued focus on a new electronic fare collection
system, limited operating revenue threatens TARC's ability to maintain and improve service.

Service upgrades, including the region’s first Bus Rapid Transit line under development on Dixie Highway,
are made possible primarily through federal funding for capital upgrades, and do not include additional
operating revenue.

TARC continues to focus on securing increased operating and capital funding at the local, state and federal
levels. Efforts include participation in a statewide Kentucky Infrastructure Coalition which is seeking to
secure dedicated state funding including for public transportation during an anticipated legislative tax reform
effort.

Operating funding is not keeping pace with expenses to cover the local share of federal grants and
increasing costs for items such as paratransit, maintenance, health insurance and pensions. The budget
is further strained because the amount of federal funding for the capital costs of operations relating to
maintenance, tire leasing and contracting service, is also falling short of covering expenses. Ancther
development on the horizon which also could impact operations is the discontinuance of state toll credits
which have been used at times to help cover the local funding match required for federal grants awarded
to TARC for such necessities as replacement buses. TARC has advocated for state officials to allocate
Volkswagen Mitigation Settlement Funds toward the purchase of replacement public transportation buses
and looks forward to decisions on the funding in FY2019.

Total occupational tax revenue, the major source of TARC operating funds, was estimated at $56.9 million
for FY2018. It is estimated at $59.1 million for FY2019, an increase of 4 percent.

Regardless of financial challenges, TARC, for the fifth fiscal year in row, did not raise fares in FY2018 and
service levels were, overall, maintained. But given financial considerations, fare increases and/or service
adjustments could be considerations in FY2019.

TARC remains focused on its mission to explore and implement transportation opportunities that enhance
the social, economic and environmental well-being of the Greater Louisville community. TARC partnered
with Louisville Tourism (former the Louisville Convention and Visitors Bureau) to rename and expand the
all-electric downtown bus circulator service, now known as LouLift. As part of a focus on connecting more
tourists to major attractions, LouLift service was expanded south to Churchill Downs, and operators
received customer service training through a partnership with Louisville Tourism to become Certified
Tourism Ambassadors. Looking to the future, TARC selected a consultant and began initial work on a short
and long-term plan for the future. The plans will determine how TARC should operate in the next few years,
balancing service and community needs to maximize efficiency with existing resources, as well as
determining a vision and plan for a more modern public transportation system in the future.

Federal funding remains important for TARC to maintain and improve services, and usually federal grants
require only 20 percent in local/state matching funds. However, without help in covering the local match,
TARC is forced to find funds from within its limited operating budget, which negatively impacts service. At
times, improvements with grant funding can be delayed pending availability of local matching funds.

(Continued)



TRANSIT AUTHORITY OF RIVER CITY
(A COMPONENT UNIT OF LOUISVILLE/
JEFFERSON COUNTY METRO GOVERNMENT)
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
Year ended June 30, 2018

Financial Highlights and Current Known Facts, Decisions and Conditions (continued)

With funding challenges limiting the ability to provide needed service, to continue capital improvements in
FY2019 TARC will explore innovative, workable solutions, additional funding sources and focus on ways to
increase operating revenue.

TARC is engaged with partners and Congressional representatives to continue to advocate for increased
funding for public transportation. TARC's partners make it possible to provide and improve service through
new strategies and technologies.

Among the most important partnerships are with the University of Louisville, Humana, UPS, Jefferson
Community and Technical College and Louisville Metro which continue to be active supporters of TARC
while positicning public transportation as an environmental initiative.

TARC will continue to focus efforts on the expansion of these types of partnerships which underscore the
importance of a strong public transportation system for a successful, competitive regional city.

Overview of the Financial Statements

This annual report consists of three parts: Management Discussion and Analysis (this section), Financial
Statements and Supplementary Information. The Financial Statements include notes that provide additional
information relating to TARC's financial condition. Readers are encouraged to read the notes to better
understand the financial statements.

Required Financial Statements

Statement of Net Position

The statement of net position includes all of TARC's assets, deferred outflows, liabilities, and deferred
inflows and provides information about the nature and amounts of investments in resources (assets) and
the obligations to creditors (liabilities). The statement of net position also provides the basis for evaluating
the capital structure of TARC and assessing the liquidity and financial flexibility of the organization.

Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position

The statement of revenues, expenses and changes in net position identifies the revenues generated and
the expenses incurred during the fiscal year. This statement helps the user to assess TARC's financial
performance during the fiscal years covered by the Statement.

Statement of Cash Flows

The statement of cash flows provides information relating to TARC's cash receipts and cash expenditures
during the fiscal year. The statement reports cash receipts, cash payments and net changes in cash,
resulting from operations and provides answers to such questions as where did cash come from, what was
cash used for and what was the change in the cash balance during the reporting period.

Budgetary Controls

TARC operates its general activities in accordance with a budget adopted by the Board and approved by
the Metro Louisville Council.

(Continued)



TRANSIT AUTHORITY OF RIVER CITY

(A COMPONENT UNIT OF LOUISVILLE/
JEFFERSON COUNTY METRO GOVERNMENT)
MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Year ended June 30, 2018

Financial
Table 1
Condensed Statements of Net Position
2018 2017 Change
ASSETS
Current assets $ 22,474,594 $ 11,474,657 $ 10,999,937
Capital assets, net 79,996,104 79,318,996 677,108
Other investments 31,000 31,000 -
Total assets 102,501,698 90,824,653 11,677,045
Deferred outflows of resources 28,140,250 17,344 052 10,796,198
Total assets and deferred outflows of resources  $ 130,641,948  $ 108,168,705 $ 22473243
LIABILITIES
Current liabilities $ 19,873,221 $ 11,746,872 $ 8,126,349
Long-term liabilities 107,749 278 90,429,729 17,319,549
Total liabilities 127,622,499 102,176,601 25,445,898
Deferred inflows of resources 3,332,453 - 3,332,453
Total liabilities and deferred inflows of resources 130,954,952 102,176,601 28,778,351
Net investment in capital assets 78,528,269 79,267,161 (738,892)
Unrestricted net position (78.841,273) (73,275,057) (5,566,216)
Total net position (313.004) 5,992,104 (6,305,108)
Total liabilities, deferred inflow of resources
and net position $ 130641948 § 108,168,705 $ 22473243

Assets and Deferred Qutflows of Resources

TARC's total assets and deferred outflows of resources increased $22,473,243 from fiscal year 2017. The
statement of net position indicates the most significant changes were in current assets and deferred
outflows. Current assets increased due to TARC having a receivable from the Federal Department of
Transportation totaling $10,913,732. Deferred outfiows of resources are comprised of deferred outflows
for both pension and Other Post-Employment Benefits (OPEB). Deferred amounts, which are employer
pension and OPEB contributions subsequent to the measurement date of the net pension and OPEB liability
increased $10,796,198 from fiscal year 2017. This was the first year TARC implemented Government
Accounting Standards Board (GASB) 75.

Liabilities and Deferred Inflows of Resources

TARC's total liabilities and deferred inflows of resources increased $28,778,351 from fiscal year 2017 due
to pension and OPERB liabilities that were booked in accordance with GASB 68 and GASB 75. TARC's net
pension and OPEB liabilities increased $17,747,373 from the prior year. See Note 9 for more information
on the change to the net pension and OPEB liabilities.

(Continued)



TRANSIT AUTHORITY OF RIVER CITY
(A COMPONENT UNIT OF LOUISVILLE/
JEFFERSON COUNTY METRO GOVERNMENT)
MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
Year ended June 30, 2018

Net Position

TARC's liabilities and deferred inflows exceeded its assets and deferred outflows by $313,004 at the end

of fiscal year 2018. This represents a decrease of $6,305,108 from the restated net position at the end of
fiscal year 2017.

Capital Assets
Table 2
Summary of changes in capital assets
Balance at Retirements Balance at

July 1, 2017 Additions (Adjustments) June 30, 2018

Land $ 3,177,782 % - $ - $ 3,177,782
Buildings 40,740,233 4,942,971 (148,237) 45,534,967
Coaches 110,982,594 4,674,856 (6,861,943) 108,795,507
Office and computer equipment 6,651,041 1,819,413 (83,557) 8,386,897
Other equipment 17,291,686 1,434,163 (181,812) 18,544,037
178,843,336 12,871,403 (7,275,549) 184,439,190

Accumulated depreciation 99,524 370 9,459,574 (4,540,858) 104,443,086
Capital assets, net $ 79318966 $ 3,411,829 $ (2,734,691) $ 79,996,104

TARC's investment in capital assets, net of depreciation, increased by $677,108. The increase is primarily
due to the purchase of new coaches and buildings. Depreciation expense for FY 2018 was $9,459,574.
Generally, capital asset purchases are completed with federal, state and/or local funding.

{Continued)



TRANSIT AUTHORITY OF RIVER CITY
(A COMPONENT UNIT OF LOUISVILLE/
JEFFERSON COUNTY METRO GOVERNMENT)
MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
Year ended June 30, 2018

Revenues

Table 3
Condensed Statements of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position
Dollar Percent
2018 2017 Change Change
Passenger transportation $ 9,761,482 $ 10,545,044 $ (783,562) (7.43%)
Special fares 1,834,204 1,718,913 115,291 6.71%
Interest, advertising, and other income 1,340,847 924 800 416.047 44.99%
Total operating revenues 12,936,533 13,188,757 (252,224) (1.91%)
Labor and pension 63,409,425 58,619,855 4,789,570 8.17%
Depreciation 9,459,574 9,786,448 (326,874) (3.34%)
Other operating expenses 31,943,332 27,457 322 4.486.010 16.34%
Total operating expenses 104,812,331 95,863,625 8,948,706 9.33%
Mass Transit Trust Fund and interest 54,373,354 55,879,015 (1,505,661) (2.69%)
Federal Transit Administration 29,101,134 22,581,896 6,519,238 28.87%
Indiana Department of Revenue 1,218,222 1,178,679 39,543 3.35%
Kentucky Transportation Cabinet 538,000 500,000 38,000 7.60%
Kentucky Regional Planning and
Development Agency/Other 339,980 27,000 312,980 1.158.19%
Total non-operating revenues
and capital contributions 85,570,690 80,166,590 5,404,100 6.74%
Change in net position (6,305,108) (2,508,278) 3 (3.796.830) 151.37%
Net position, beginning of year 24,948 627 27,456,905
Restatement for GASB 75
implementation (18,956,523) -
Net position, beginning of year
as restated 5,992,104 27,456 905

Net position, end of year

$ (313.004) $ 24948627

TARC's operating revenues decreased 1.91% from FY2017. TARC receives funding from sources other
than operating revenue. TARC has a dedicated funding source through the Mass Transit Trust Fund
("MTTF") and also receives federal and state funding (Kentucky and Indiana). The MTTF contributed
$48,788,670 for FY 2018 and $51,077,933 for FY2017 for TARC's operating expenses and $5,463,305 for
FY 2018 and $4,801,082 for FY2017 for capital related purchases. The federal funding included funding

for operations and capital purchases of $29,101,134 for FY 2018 and $22,581,896 for FY2017.

(Continued)



TRANSIT AUTHORITY OF RIVER CITY
(A COMPONENT UNIT OF LOUISVILLE/
JEFFERSON COUNTY METRO GOVERNMENT)
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
Year ended June 30, 2018

Expenses

Expenses excluding depreciation were $93,352,757 for FY2018 and $86,077,177 for FY2017. This change
represents an increase of 10.82%.

TARC is a labor-intensive industry and the cost of labor and benefits comprise the bulk of TARC's expenses.
Labor and fringe benefits costs were $63,409,425 for FY2018 and $58,619,855 for FY2017. TARC
experienced increases in both labor and health care costs. Materials and supplies expenses increased
7.03% in FY 2018 compared to FY2017. Casualty and insurance expenses increased by 154.16% in FY
2018 compared to FY2017. Purchased Transportation increased 6.09%, $15,933,206 for FY2018 from
$15,018,800 for FY2017. The bulk of purchased transportation is utilized to supply TARC 3 service, a
service required by the Americans with Disabilities Act.

Results of Operations

TARC has made a commitment to taxpayers of this community to provide reliable and safe transportation.
The economy has a direct effect on TARC's funding sources. TARC has made every effort to streamline
its administrative staff. Also, the hiring and training of bus drivers is paramount in keeping operating costs
at a manageable level. While there are no government-imposed limits on the balance of the MTTF, TARC's
Board of Directors passed a motion that requires Board approval for the balance to go below $10,000,000.
Currently, the MTTF balance, including accruals, is $14,837,470.

Requests for Additional Information

This report is intended to provide readers with a general overview of TARC's finances and to provide
information regarding the receipts and uses of funds. If you need clarification regarding a statement(s)
made in the report or need additional information, please contact the Transit Authority of River City,
Attention: Finance Department, 1000 West Broadway, Louisville, Kentucky 40203,




TRANSIT AUTHORITY OF RIVER CITY
(A COMPONENT UNIT OF LOUISVILLE/
JEFFERSON COUNTY METRO GOVERNMENT)
STATEMENT OF NET POSITION
June 30, 2018

ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash
Accounts and grants receivable
Trade
Louisville Metro Government - other
Department of Transportation ~ federal
Department of Transportation — state
Materials and supplies inventory, net
Prepaid expenses
Total current assets

Noncurrent assets:
Capital assets not being depreciated
Depreciable capital assets, net
Total capital assets
Other investments
Total noncurrent assets
Total assets

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Pension related
OPEB related
Total deferred outflows or resources

Total assets and deferred outflows of resources

$ 4309224

2,912,134
34,209
10,913,732
1,491,269
1,245,157

1,568,869

22,474,594

3,177,782
76,818,322
79,996,104

31,000
80,027,104
102,501,698

20,560,770
7,579,480
28,140,250

$130,641,948

See accompanying notes to financial statements.



TRANSIT AUTHORITY OF RIVER CITY
(A COMPONENT UNIT OF LOUISVILLE/
JEFFERSON COUNTY METRO GOVERNMENT)
STATEMENT OF NET POSITION
June 30, 2018

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities:
Current portion of capital lease obligation
Due to Louisville Metro Government — Mass Transit Trust Fund
Accounts payable and other liabilities
Compensated absences
Estimated liability for uninsured liability claims
Estimated liability for uninsured workers’ compensation claims
Unearned revenue
Total current liabilities

Noncurrent liabilities:
Capital lease, less current portion
Compensated absences
Estimated liability for uninsured liability claims
Estimated liability for uninsured workers’ compensation claims
Net pension liability:
County Employee Retirement System
TARC Pension Plan
Net OPEB liability
Total net pension liability and net OPEB liability
Total noncurrent liabilities

Total liabilities

Deferred inflows of resources
Pension related
OPEB related
Total deferred inflows of resources

Total liabilities and deferred inflows of resources
NET POSITION
Net investment in capital assets
Unrestricted
Total net position

Total liabilities, deferred inflows of resources and net position

$ 114,474
8,103,934
5,208,188
3,084,000

613,339
2,449,000
300,286
19,873,221

538,668
676,898
709,461
432,414

76,614,117
2,464,293
26,313,427
105,391,837
107,749,278

127,622,499
1,954,756
1,377,697
3,332,453

130,954,952

78,528,269

(78,841,273)
(313.004)

$130,641,948

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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TRANSIT AUTHORITY OF RIVER CITY
(A COMPONENT UNIT OF LOUISVILLE/
JEFFERSON COUNTY METRO GOVERNMENT)

Year ended June 30, 2018

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION

Operating revenues
Passenger fares
Special transit fares
Advertising
Interest
Charter services
Other revenue
Recoveries
Total operating revenues

Operating expenses
Labor

Fringe benefits, budget basis

Plus: annual pension adjustments

Plus: annual OPEB adjustments
Total fringe benefits

Services
Development costs
Materials and supplies
Utilities
Casualty and insurance
Miscellaneous
Rentals and purchased transportation
Interest
Depreciation
Loss on disposal
Total operating expenses

Loss from operations

Non-operating revenues
Mass Transit Trust Fund and interest
Mass Transit Trust Fund capital assistance for operating
Federal Transit Administration
Indiana Department of Revenue
Kentucky Regional Planning and Development Agency/Other
Total non-operating revenues

Loss before capital contributions
Capital contributions:
Mass Transit Trust Fund and interest
Other local match
Kentucky Transportation Cabinet
Federal Transit Administration and Pass-Through Entities
Total capital contributions
Change in net position
Net position, beginning of year
Restatement for GASB 75 implementation

Net position, beginning of year, as restated

Net position, end of year

$ 9,761,482
1,834,204
604,165

36,573

280,800
267,974

151,335

12,936,533

28,942 463

24,453,273
8,858,568

1,155,121

34,466,962

4,003,776
1,450,504
6,352,676
924,186
2,590,534
682,800
15,933,906
4,605
9,459,574
345

— 104,812,331

(91,875,798)

48,788,670
3,081,272
16,304,282
1,218,222

339,980
70,632,426

(21,243,372)

1,482,033
121,379
538,000

— 12,796,852
14,938,264

(6,305,108)
24,948,627
(18,956,523)

5,992,104

$§_ (313.004)

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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TRANSIT AUTHORITY OF RIVER CITY
(A COMPONENT UNIT OF LOUISVILLE/
JEFFERSON COUNTY METRO GOVERNMENT)
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
Year Ended June 30, 2018

Cash flows from operating activities

Receipts from passengers and service contracts $ 10,908,021
Payments to suppliers (30,551,490)
Payments to employees (53,152,089)

Net cash used by operating activities

Cash flows from non-capital financing activities

(72,795,558)

Federal assistance 6,042,498
State assistance 1,243,363
Mass transit trust fund operational receipts 52,382,069
Net cash provided from non-capital financing activities 59,667,930
Cash flows from capital and related financing activities
Payments on capital lease obligation (51,804)
Government Federal subsidies 12,682,904
Government other local subsidies 8,605,533
Mass transit trust fund capital subsidies (14,171)
Purchases of capital assets (9.824,333)
Net cash provided by capital financing activities 11,389,129
Cash flows from investing activities
Interest activity (36.573)
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (1,766,072)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 6,075,296
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $ 4309224

Reconciliation of loss from operations to cash
used by operations:
Loss from operations
Adjustments to reconcile change in net position
to net cash used by operating activities

$ (91,875,798)

Depreciation and development costs 10,910,423
Net pension liability, deferred outflows and deferred inflows 8,858,568
Net OPEB liability, deferred outflows and deferred inflows 1,155,121
(Increase) decrease in:
Trade accounts receivable (2,103,518)
Inventories (29,765)
Prepaid expenses (893,841)
Accounts payable and other liabilities 972,535
Accrued compensated absences 92,030
Estimated liability for uninsured liability claims (37,800)
Estimated liability for uninsured workers’ compensation claims 81,481
Unearned revenue 75,006
Net cash used by operating activities $ (72,795,558)

Noncash investing, capital and related financing activities

TARC financed the purchase of capital assets through accounts payable of approximately $815,000 in 2018.

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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TRANSIT AUTHORITY OF RIVER CITY
(A COMPONENT UNIT OF LOUISVILLE/
JEFFERSON COUNTY METRO GOVERNMENT)
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
June 30, 2018

NOTE 1 - NATURE OF ORGANIZATION

The Transit Authority of River City ("TARC") is a public corporation created by joint proceedings of the City
of Louisville and Jefferson County Fiscal Court pursuant to KRS Chapter 96A of the Commonweaith of
Kentucky to provide public transportation for Louisville, Kentucky and its metro areas. TARC is considered
a discretely presented component unit of Louisville/Jefferson County Metro Government for financial
statement reporting purposes. In order to measure the costs of providing mass transportation services, the
revenues from those services and required subsidies, TARC has adopted the accounting methods
appropriate for a governmental enterprise fund. TARC is a government entity and exempt from federal and
state income taxes.

Budgetary Controls: Budgets are adopted on a basis consistent with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America except that the budget omits depreciation expense and accounts
for the principal portion of the capitalized lease payments as an expense. Appropriated budgets are
adopted on an annual basis. All annual appropriations lapse at fiscal year-end. Project-length financial
plans are adopted for all capital projects. Legal budgetary control is established at the fund level (i.e.
expenditures for a fund may not exceed the total appropriation amount). TARC is authorized to transfer
budgeted amounts within the fund; however, any revisions that alter the total expenditures must be
approved by Louisville/Jefferson County Metro Government Council. TARC's management prepares the
annual budget and submits it to the Board of Directors (the "Board") for approval. This has historically been
performed in April or May of each year. The Board-approved budgets for the 2018 fiscal year was submitted
to and approved by Louisville/Jefferson County Metro Government Council in June 2017.

Concentration of Funding: TARC relies on local funding from the Mass Transit Trust Fund for 55.20% of
total revenue in 2018. The Mass Transit Trust Fund administers the proceeds of the Louisville-Jefferson
County Metro Government (“Metro Government”) occupational license tax authorized by the electorate to
finance a mass transportation program in Metro Louisville. The assets of the Fund are restricted to finance
the operating deficits and capital expenditures approved in the Annual Budget by the Metro Government
Council for TARC.

TARC also relies on federal assistance for operations and capital acquisitions. Federal revenues
represented approximately 29.54% of total revenues in 2018.

NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of Accounting: The financial statements of TARC have been prepared in conformity with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America ("GAAP”) as applied to government units by
the Governmental Accounting Standards Board (“GASB”). TARC operated as an enterprise fund and all
activities are accounted for using the economic resources measurement focus and the accrual basis of
accounting.

Use of Estimates: The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that
affect certain reported amounts and disclosures. Accordingly, actual results could differ from those
estimates.

(Continued)

13.



TRANSIT AUTHORITY OF RIVER CITY
(A COMPONENT UNIT OF LOUISVILLE/
JEFFERSON COUNTY METRO GOVERNMENT)
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
June 30, 2018

NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Implementation of Accounting Standards: The Authority adopted the following accounting standards during

the year:

GASB Statement No. 75, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Postemployment Benefits Other
Than Pensions, issued on June 2015.

GASB Statement No. 81, Irrevocable Split-Interest Agreements, issued March 2016.

GASB Statement No. 85, Omnibus 2017, issued March 2017.

GASB Statement No. 86, Certain Debt Extinguishment Issues, issued May 2017.

Adoption of these statements did not have a significant impact on the Authority’s financial position or results
of operations, other than the implementation of GASB Statement No. 75 which required an adjustment to
opening net position in the amount of ($18,956,523) and the establishment of a net OPEB liability and
related deferral of resources as outlined below:

Beginning GASB 75
Balance As Restated Adjustment
Statement of net position
Net OPEB liability 3 - $(20,639,468) $(20,639,468)
Deferred outflows - 1,682,945 1,682,945
Statement of revenues, expenses and
changes in net position
Net position $ 24,948,627 $ 5,992,104  $(18,956,523)

Recent Accounting Pronouncements: The GASB has issued the following statements not yet required to

be adopted by the Board that management will evaluate for future years.

GASB Statement No. 83, Certain Asset Retirement Obligations, issued November 2016. The
provisions of this Statement are effective for reporting periods beginning after June 15, 2018.
GASB Statement No. 84, Fiduciary Activities, issued January 2017. The provisions of this
Statement are effective for reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2018.

GASB Statement No. 87, Leases, issued June 2017. The provisions of this Statement are effective
for periods beginning after December 15, 2019.

GASB Statement No. 88, Certain Disclosures Related to Debt, including Direct Borrowings and
Direct Placement, issued April 2018. The provisions of this Statement are effective for periods
beginning after June 15, 2018.

GASB Statement No. 90, Majority Equity Interests—an amendment of GASB Statements No. 14
and No. 61). The provisions of this Statement are effective for reporting periods beginning after
December 15, 2018.

GASB Statement No. 89, Accounting for interest Cost Incurred before the End of a Construction
Period. The provisions of this Statement are effective for reporting periods beginning after
December 15, 2019.

The Authority’'s management has not yet determined the effect, if any, these statements will have on the
Authority’s financial statements.

(Continued)
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TRANSIT AUTHORITY OF RIVER CITY
(A COMPONENT UNIT OF LOUISVILLE/
JEFFERSON COUNTY METRO GOVERNMENT)
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
June 30, 2018

NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Cash and Cash Equivalents: TARC considers all highly liquid investments (including restricted investments)
purchased with an original maturity of three months or less to be cash equivalents.

Prepaid Expenses: Prepaid expenses consist of normal operating expenses for which payment is due in
advance such as insurance and are expensed when the benefit is received.

Accounts Receivable: TARC uses the allowance for bad debts method of valuing doubtful accounts
receivable which is based on historical experience, coupled with a review of the current status of existing
receivables. Management has recorded an allowance for doubtful accounts of $25,000 at June 30, 2018.

Materials and Supplies Inventory: Inventory consists of fuel, tires, repair parts and supplies. No general
administrative expenses are included in the inventory valuation. Expenses are recorded as the materials
are consumed. Inventory is valued at the lower of cost or market using the first-in, first-out method.

Capital Assets: Capital assets are stated at cost and depreciated over their estimated useful lives using
the straight-line method. TARC's depreciation policy requires that all qualifying assets with costs in excess
of $500 to be capitalized. Depreciation is recorded on all depreciable capital assets on a straight-line basis
over the estimated useful lives of the assets. The estimated useful lives are five to forty years for land
improvements, forty years for buildings, twelve years for coaches and capitalized vehicles, five years for
other equipment, and five years for office equipment. TARC has acquired certain assets with funding
provided by federal assistance from the FTA grant programs. TARC holds title to these assets; however,
the federal government retains an interest in these assets should TARC no longer use the assets for mass
transit purposes. TARC periodically reviews the carrying values of property and equipment for impairment
whenever adverse events or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying value of the asset may not be
recoverable.

Self-Insurance: TARC is self-insured for workers' compensation and liability claims up to varying deductible
amounts per occurrence for workers' compensation and liability claims. Other liability claims incurred prior
to January 1, 1987 and workers' compensation claims in excess of the self-insured amounts are covered
by varying amounts of insurance.

TARC is self-insured for cyber property and liability claims per occurrence for third party liability coverages
and data breach crisis management, first party network business interruption and extra expenses property
coverages, and first party data breach crisis management property coverages to replace, recreate, restore
or repair damaged programs, software or electronic data. Excess coverage can be purchased through
Louisville Area Governmental Self-Insurance Trust.

TARC participates in the Louisville Area Governmental Self Insurance Trust (the "Trust"). The Trust
provides insurance coverage on liability claims made in excess of each member's deductible amount. The
amount of coverage available to TARC could be limited by the total assets of the Trust. At June 30, 2018,
TARC had no significant claims that are payable from the Trust's assets.

(Continued)
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TRANSIT AUTHORITY OF RIVER CITY
(A COMPONENT UNIT OF LOUISVILLE/
JEFFERSON COUNTY METRO GOVERNMENT)
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
June 30, 2018

NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Changes in TARC's liability for uninsured workers' compensation and uninsured liability claims for the year
ended June 30, 2018 are as follows:

Claims and
Beginning Changes in Claim Ending Due Within
Balance Estimates Payments Balance One Year
At June 30, 2018:
Uninsured worker's
compensation $2799933 $2339359 $2257878 $2.881.414 $2.449,000

At June 30, 2018:
Uninsured liability claims $ 1,360,600 $2,590534 $2628334 $1322800 $ 613,339

There have been no significant reductions in insurance coverage from the previous year. Settlement
amounts have not exceeded insurance coverage in any of the past three fiscal years.

Net Position: GASB requires the classification of net position into three components — net investment in
capital assets; restricted; and unrestricted. These net position classifications are defined as follows:

+ Net investment in capital assets - This component consists of capital assets, net of accumulated
depreciation reduced by the outstanding balances of any bonds, notes, or other borrowings that
are attributable to the acquisition, construction, or improvement of those assets.

o Unrestricted net position - This component of net position consists of net position that does not
meet the definition of “restricted” or “net investment in capital assets.”

Compensated Absences: Accrued compensated absences represent vested or accumulated sick time and
vacation leave that is expected to be liquidated with expendable available financial resources. Full-time
employees who have a continuous service record of one year or longer are entitled to an annual vacation
from one to six weeks, based on a predetermined schedule. TARC’s policy permits employees to
accumulate earned but unused vacation. Employees can receive payment for earned but unused vacation
leave up to 240 hours. For bargaining employees, if the employee’s predetermined schedule is changed
by TARC’s management, TARC is required to reschedule the employee’s vacation time, which may carry
the time over to the following year. In the event the non-bargaining employee has not taken his or her
vacation by the end of the calendar year then his or her vacation time can be taken, paid or lost as deemed
prudent by TARC’s management. All full-iime active employees earn sick days at the rate of 5/6 of a day
per month, 10 days per year, up to a maximum of 145 days. Upon retirement, the following two options are
available for the unused sick day accumulation:

a. TARC will buy back all accumulated sick days at 100% of the employee’s current pay rate, or
b. If the employee is a member of TARC’s retirement plan, the unused sick days can be considered
as time worked to either advance a normal retirement date or to increase service credits.

Changes in compensated absences are summarized as follows for the year ended:

Beginning Ending Due Within
Balance Increases Decreases Balance One Year

At June 30, 2018:
Compensated absences $ 3668868 $4.467517 $4375487 $3,760,808 $ 3,084,000

(Continued)
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TRANSIT AUTHORITY OF RIVER CITY
(A COMPONENT UNIT OF LOUISVILLE/
JEFFERSON COUNTY METRO GOVERNMENT)
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
June 30, 2018

NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Unearned Revenue: Advance tickets sales that have not been redeemed through the fare box are shown
as unearned revenue. Unearned revenue at June 30, 2018 was $300,286.

Net Pension Liability: TARC has recorded a net pension liability reflecting the difference between the total
pension liabilities and the fiduciary net positions of the single employer defined benefit plan and the County
Employees Retirement System plan. For purposes of measuring the net pension liability, deferred outflows
and inflows of resources related to pensions, and pension expense, information about the fiduciary net
position of the single employer defined benefit plan and the County Employees Retirement System plan
and additions to deductions from the single employer defined benefit plan and the County Employees
Retirement System plan fiduciary net position have been determined on the same basis as they are
reported by the single employer defined benefit plan and the County Employees Retirement System plan.
For this purpose, benefit payments (including refunds of employee contributions) are recognized when due
and payable in accordance with the benefit terms. Investments are reported at fair value.

Beginning Ending
Balance Net Change Balance
At June 30, 2018;
TARC $ 2,734,263 $ (269,970) $ 2,464,293
CERS 64,540,703 12,073,414 76,614,117
Net pension liability $ 67,274,966 $ 11,803,444 $ 79,078,410

Net OPEB Liability: TARC has recorded a net OPEB liability reflecting the difference between the total
OPEB liability and the fiduciary net positions of the County Employees Retirement System plan. For
purposes of measuring the net OPEB liability, deferred outflows and inflows of resources related to
pensions, and pension expense, information about the fiduciary net position of the County Employees
Retirement System plan and additions to deductions from the County Employees Retirement System plan
fiduciary net position have been determined on the same basis as they are reported by the County
Employees Retirement System plan. For this purpose, benefit payments recognized when due and payable
in accordance with the benefit terms. Investments are reported at fair value.

Beginning Ending
Balance Net Change Balance
At June 30, 2018:
Net OPEB liability $ 20,639,468 $ 5,673,959 $ 26,313,427

Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources: These deferred amounts represent a
consumption (outflow) or acquisition (inflow) of net position that applies to a future period(s). TARC's
activities are related to recognition of changes in its defined benefit plans’ net pension liability and net OPEB
liability totaling $24,807,797 that will be amortized to expense in future periods.

Operating Revenues and Expenses: Operating revenues and expenses generally result from providing
services in connection with ongoing operations. Revenues are recorded as income in a manner consistent
with the timing of the provided service. Operating expenses include the cost of delivering services,
administrative expenses and depreciation expenses on capital assets. All revenues and expenses not
meeting this definition are reported as non-operating revenues and expenses.

(Continued)

17.



TRANSIT AUTHORITY OF RIVER CITY
(A COMPONENT UNIT OF LOUISVILLE/
JEFFERSON COUNTY METRO GOVERNMENT)
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
June 30, 2018

NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Fare Revenues: Passenger fares are recorded as revenue at the time such services are performed and
revenues pass through the fare box. Sales of 10 ride tickets and 10 ride special tickets are recorded initially
as unredeemed fares and recognized as income upon passage through the fare box. All other fare products
are considered revenue when purchased.

Capital and Operating Grants: Certain expenditures for capital acquisitions, improvements and
development of an urban mass transportation system have received significant federal funding through the
Federal Transit Administration (FTA). The balance of such expenditures is funded through various grants
and receipts from the Mass Transit Trust Fund ("MTTF"). Funds provided by governmental authorities for
capital and operating assistance are recorded when earned.

NOTE 3 - CASH, CASH EQUIVALENTS AND INVESTMENTS
A summary of cash, certificate of deposit and investments at June 30, 2018 is as follows:

Cash and Cash

Eaquivalents

Operating accounts:
Cash in bank $ 2,819,283
U.S. Government money market 1,489,941
Total cash and cash equivalents 4,309,224
Certificate of deposit 31,000
Total $4,340,224

The bank balance of cash and cash equivalents and certificate of deposit as of June 30, 2018 was
$5,641,908. The difference representing outstanding checks and deposits.

Custodial Credit Risk: Custodial credit risk for deposits and investments is the risk that, in the event of
failure by a financial institution, TARC may not be able to recover the value of its deposits and investments
or collateral securities that are in the possession of the financial institution. TARC's investment policy
dictates that all cash and investments maintained in any financial institution named as a depository be
collateralized and the collateral held in the name of TARC. TARC's cash deposits at June 30, 2018, were
entirely covered by FDIC insurance or by pledged collateral held by TARC's agent bank in TARC's name.

Interest Rate Risk: Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in interest rates of investments will adversely
affect the fair value of an investment. TARC's investment policy limits investment maturities as a means of
managing its exposure to fair value losses arising from increasing interest rates. Investments are made
based upon prevailing market conditions at the time of the transaction. TARC reviews its cash and
investment needs in order to maintain adequate liquidity to meet its cash flow needs. Assets categorized
as short-term operating funds will be invested in investments maturing in 12 months or less.

Credit Risk: Credit risk is the risk that an issuer or other counterparty to an investment will not fulfill its
obligations. Investments are made under the 'prudent investor' standard to ensure that (a) due diligence is
exercised in accordance with State law, (b) any negative deviations are reported timely and (c) reasonable
action is taken to control any adverse developments. TARC's investment policy requires investment in
instruments authorized in KRS 66.480(a)-(d).

(Continued)
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TRANSIT AUTHORITY OF RIVER CITY
(A COMPONENT UNIT OF LOUISVILLE/

JEFFERSON COUNTY METRO GOVERNMENT)

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
June 30, 2018

NOTE 3 - CASH, CASH EQUIVALENTS AND INVESTMENTS (Continued)

Concentration of Credit Risk: TARC's investment policy requires diversification of the overall portfolio to
eliminate the risk of loss from an over-concentration of assets in a specific class of security, a specific

maturity, and/or a specific issuer.

Foreign Currency Risk: Foreign currency risk is the risk that changes in exchange rates will adversely
impact the fair value of an investment. TARC is not exposed to this risk and its investment policy does not
provide for investments in foreign currency denominated securities.

NOTE 4 - CAPITAL ASSETS

The changes in capital assets for the year ended June 30, 2018 are summarized as follows:

Balance at Retirements Balance at

July 1, 2017 Additions (Adjustments) June 30, 2018
Land $ 3177782 % - $ - $ 3,177,782
Buildings 40,740,233 4,942 971 (148,237) 45,534,967
Coaches 110,982,594 4,674,856 (6,861,943) 108,795,507
Office and computer equipment 6,651,041 1,819,413 (83,557) 8,386,897
Other equipment 17,291,686 1,434,163 (181,812) 18,544,037
178,843,336 12,871,403 (7,275,549) 184,439,190

Accumulated depreciation for:
Buildings 21,946,003 1,274,831 - 23,220,834
Coaches 58,788,209 6,366,810 (4,432,819) 60,722,200

Office and computer

equipment 5,245,659 616,995 (9,098) 5,853,556
Other equipment 13,544,499 1,200,938 (98.941) 14,646,496
99,524,370 9,459,574 (4,540,858) 104,443,086
Capital assets, net $ 79318966 $ 3411829 $ (2.734691) $ 79996104

NOTE 5 — LINE OF CREDIT BORROWINGS

TARC entered into a borrowing agreement with Fifth Third Bank that established an unsecured line-of-
credit whereby TARC can borrow up to $6,000,000. The interest rate is Libor plus 1.80% (3.55% at June
30, 2018) and expires in November 2018. There were no draws or payments on the line of credit during
the fiscal year. There was no outstanding balance for this line of credit as of June 30, 2018.

(Continued)
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NOTE 6 - CAPITAL LEASE

TARC entered into an agreement with Fifth Third Bank to lease twenty paratransit vehicles under a capital
lease. The lease agreement contains a bargain purchase option at the end of the lease term, Amortization
of assets held under capital leases is included with depreciation expense. Total assets under capital lease
net of accumulated amortization were $663,345 at June 30, 2018. Future minimum payments required
under the lease together with their present value as of June 30, 2018 are as follows:

Year ending June 30

2019 $ 114,474
2020 129,706
2021 134,936
2022 140,378
2023 133,648

Total minimum lease payments $ 653142

NOTE 7 - LOUISVILLE METRO GOVERNMENT - MASS TRANSIT TRUST FUND

The majority of TARC’s funding is from an occupational tax levied on residents of Jefferson County,
Kentucky. A tax of 0.2% of taxable income is levied annually. The taxes are collected by the Revenue
Commission of the Louisville Metro Government and deposited into the Mass Transit Trust Fund (MTTF).
TARC is authorized to draw MTTF funds for operating and capital expenditures.

For the year ended June 30, 2018, TARC recorded revenues of $48,788,670 and $5,463,305 for capital
contributions and capital assistance for operating from MTTF. TARC may receive authorization to draw
amounts in excess of originally authorized amounts in order to manage cash flow during the year. Any
such excess (or under) draws are recorded as a payable/receivable back to the MTTF. At June 30, 2018,
TARC owed $8,103,934 to the MTTF held at Louisville Metro Government.

NOTE 8 - COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

TARC has entered into a contract for purchased transportation service which expires September 30, 2019.
Purchased transportation services expense for the year ended June 30, 2018 was $15,933,906. TARC
has a contract that expires March 2023 with a vendor for the use of bus tires. The monthly charge to
operations is based on mileage placed on the tires. Tire usage expense for the year ended June 30, 2018
was $690,996.

TARC is dependent upon the availability of diesel fuel. Increases in the cost of fuel may, in the future,
adversely affect the profitability of TARC. There is no assurance that diesel fuel prices will not increase.
To alleviate possible fuel cost increases, TARC periodically enters into fixed unit cost fuel contracts with
fuel suppliers to purchase fuel at or below current market prices. In August 2017, TARC entered into an
agreement with a fuel supplier to provide diesel fuel at a fixed price up to 2,000,000 gallons. The price for
purchases in excess of 2,000,000 gallons is based on the Qil Price Information Service's (OPIS) spot prices.
OPIS is an independent third-party that provides daily spot price assessments for refined oil products.

(Continued)
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NOTE 8 - COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (Continued)

Expenditures financed by federal and state grants are subject to audit by the granting agencies. The
amount, if any, of expenditures which may be disallowed by the granting agencies cannot be determined
at this time, although TARC expects such amounts, if any, to be immaterial.

TARGC is subject to various legal actions and general asserted and unasserted claims arising in the ordinary
course of its business. Litigation is subject to many uncertainties; the outcome of individual litigated matters
is not predictable with assurance. While it is reasonably possible that some of these foregoing matters may
be decided unfavorably to TARC within the next year, it is the opinion of management that the ultimate
liability, if any, with respect to these matters will not materially affect the financial position of TARC.

NOTE 9 — DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION AND OTHER POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS PLAN — COST
SHARING - CERS

General Information About the Pension and OPEB Plan: All full-time and eligible part-time employees
of TARC participate in County Employee Retirement System (CERS), a cost-sharing, multiple-employer
defined benefit pension plan administered by the Kentucky Retirement System (KRS), an agency of the
Commonwealth. Under the provisions of Kentucky Revised Statute Section 78.520, the Board of Trustees
(the Board) of KRS administers CERS, Kentucky Employee Retirement System, and State Police
Retirement System. Although the assets of the systems are invested as a whole, each system’s assets are
used only for the payment of benefits to members of that plan, and a pro rata share of administrative costs.

The plan provides for retirement, disability and death benefits to plan members. Retirement benefits may
also be extended to beneficiaries of plan members under certain circumstances. Under the provisions of
Kentucky Revised Statute Section 61.701, the Board of KRS also administers the Kentucky Retirement
Systems Insurance Fund. The statutes provide for a single insurance fund to provide group hospital and
medical benefits to retirees drawing a benefit from the three pension funds administered by KRS. The
assets of the insurance fund are invested as a whole. KRS and the Commonwealth have statutory authority
to determine Plan benefits and employer contributions.

KRS issues a publicly available financial report that includes financial statements and required
supplementary information for CERS. The report may be obtained by writing to Kentucky Retirement
System, Perimeter Park West, 1260 Louisville Road, Frankfort, Kentucky 40801, or it may be found at the
KRS website at www kyret.ky.gov.

Basis of Accounting: For purposes of measuring the net pension and OPEB liabilities, deferred outflow
of resources and deferred inflow of resources related to pensions and OPEB, pension and OPEB expense,
information about the fiduciary net position of CERS and additions to/deductions from CERS's fiduciary net
position have been determined on the same basis as they are reported by CERS. For this purpose, benefit
payments (including refunds of employee contributions) are recognized when due and payable in
accordance with the benefit terms. Investments are reported at fair value.

PENSION BENEFITS PROVIDED: The information below summarizes the major retirement benefit
provisions of CERS-Non-Hazardous. It is not intended to be, nor should it be interpreted as, a complete
statement of all benefit provisions:

(Continued)
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NOTE 9 — DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION AND OTHER POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS PLAN — COST
SHARING - CERS (Continued)

Members whose participation began before 8/1/2004:
Age and Service Requirement: Age 65 with at least one month of Nonhazardous duty service credit, or at
any age with 27 or more years of service credit.

Benefit: If a member has at least 48 months of service, the monthly benefit is 2.20% times final average
compensation times years of service depending on participation and retirement dates. Final
compensation is calculated by taking the average of the highest five (5) fiscal years of salary.
If the number of months of service credit during the five (5) year period is less than forty-eight
(48), one (1) or more additional fiscal years shall be used. If a member has less than 48 months
of service, the monthly benefit is the actuarial equivalent of two times the member's
contributions with interest.

Members whose participation began on or after 8/1/2004, but before 9/1/2008:
Aqge and Service Requirement: Age 65 with at least one month of Nonhazardous duty service credit, or at
any age with 27 or more years of service credit.

Benefit: If a member has at least 48 months of service, the monthly benefit is 2.00% multiplied by final
average compensation, multiplied by years of service. Final compensation is calculated by
taking the average of the highest five (5) fiscal years of salary. If the number of months of
service credit during the five (5) year period is less than forty-eight (48), one (1) or more
additional fiscal years shall be used. If a member has less than 48 months of service, the
monthly benefit is the actuarial equivalent of two times the member's contributions with interest.

Members whose participation began on or after 9/1/2008 but before 1/1/2014:
Age and Service Requirement. Age 65 with 60 months of Nonhazardous duty service credit, or age 57 if
age plus service equals at least 87.

Benefit: The monthly benefit is the following benefit factor based on service credit at retirement plus
2.00% for each year of service greater than 30 years, multiplied by final average compensation,
multiplied by years of service.

Service Credit Benefit Factor
10 years or less 1.10%
10+ - 20 years 1.30%
20+ - 26 years 1.50%
26+ - 30 years 1.75%

Final compensation is calculated by taking the average of the last (not highest) five (5) complete
fiscal years of salary. Each fiscal year used to determine final compensation must contain
twelve (12) months of service credit.

Members whose participation began on or after 1/1/2014:
Age and Service Requirement: Age 65 with 60 months of Nonhazardous duty service credit, or age 57 if
age plus service equals at least 87.

(Continued)
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NOTE 9 — DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION AND OTHER POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS PLAN — COST
SHARING - CERS (Continued)

Benefit: Each year that a member is an active contributing member to the System, the member
contributes 5.00% of creditable compensation, and the member's employer contributes 4.00%
of creditable compensation, which is a portion of the total employer contribution, into a
hypothetical account. The hypothetical account will earn interest annually on both the member's
and employer's contribution at a minimum rate of 4.00%. If the System's geometric average
net investment return for the previous five years exceeds 4.00%, then the hypothetical account
will be credited with an additional amount of interest equal to 75.00% of the amount of the
return which exceeds 4.00%. All interest credits will be applied to the hypothetical account
balance on June 30 based on the account balance as of June 30 of the previous year. Upon
retrement the hypothetical account which includes member contributions, employer
contributions and interest credits can be withdrawn from the System as a lump sum or
annuitized into a single life annuity option.

OPEB BENEFITS PROVIDED: The information below summarizes the major retirement benefit provisions

of CERS-Non-Hazardous. It is not intended to be, nor should it be interpreted as, a complete statement of

all benefit provisions:

Insurance Tier 1: Participation began before 7/1/2003

Benefit Eligibility: Recipient of a retirement allowance

Benefit: The percentage of member premiums paid by the retirement system are dependent on the
number of years of service. Benefits also include duty disability retirements, duty death in
service, non-duty death in service and surviving spouse of a retiree.

Insurance Tier 2: Participation began on or after 7/1/2003, but before 9/1/2008

Benefit Eligibility: Recipient of a retirement allowance with at least 120 months of service at retirement

Benefit: The system provides a monthly contribution subsidy of $10 for each year of earned service.
The monthly contribution is increased by 1.5% each July 1. Benefits also include duty disability
retirements, duty death in service and non-duty death in service.

Insurance Tier 3: Participation began on or after 9/1/2008

Benefit Eligibility: Recipient of a retirement allowance with at least 180 months of service at retirement

Benefit: The system provides a monthly contribution subsidy of $10 for each year of earned service.

The monthly contribution is increased by 1.5% each July 1. Benefits also include duty disability
retirements, duty death in service and non-duty death in service.

(Continued)
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NOTE 9 — DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION AND OTHER POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS PLAN — COST
SHARING - CERS (Continued)

Contributions: TARC was required to contribute at an actuarially determined rate determined by Statute.
Per Kentucky Revised Statute Section 78.545(33) normal contribution and past service contribution rates
shall be determined by the KRS Board on the basis of an annual valuation last preceding July 1 of a new
biennium. The KRS Board may amend contribution rates as of the first day of July of the second year of a
biennium, if it is determined on the basis of a subsequent actuarial valuation that amended contribution
rates are necessary to satisfy requirements determined in accordance with actuarial bases adopted by the
KRS Board.

For the fiscal years ended June 30, 2018 and 2017, participating employers contributed 19.18% (14.48%
allocated to pension and 4.70% allocated to OPEB) and 18.68% (13.95% allocated to pension and 4.73%
allocated to OPEB) as set by KRS, respectively, of each Nonhazardous employee's creditable
compensation. These percentages are inclusive of both pension and insurance payments for employers.
Administrative costs of KRS are financed through employer contributions and investments earnings.

TARC has met 100% of the contribution funding requirement for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2018 and
2017. Total current year contributions recognized by the Plan were $6,252,877 ($4,720,629 related to
pension and $1,532,248 related to OPEB) for the year ended June 30, 2018. The OPEB contributions
amount does not include the implicit subsidy reported in the amount of $321,5986.

Members whose participation began before 9/1/2008:

Nonhazardous member contributions equal 5% of all creditable compensation. Interest paid on the
members’ accounts is currently 2.5%; and per statute shallnot be less than 2.0%. Members are entitled to
a full refund of contributions with interest.

Members whose participation began on or after 9/1/2008:

Nonhazardous member contributions equal to 6% of all creditable compensation, with 5% being credited
to the member's account and 1% deposited to the KRS 401(h) Account. Interest paid on the members’
accounts will be set at 2.5%. Members are entitled to a full refund of contributions and interest in
their individual account, however, the 1% contributed to the insurance fund is non-refundable.

Members whose participation on or after 1/1/2014

Nonhazardous member contributions equal to 6% of all creditable compensation, with 5% being credited
to the member's account and 1% deposited to the KRS 401(h) Account. Members are entitled to a full
refund of contributions and interest on the member’s portion of the hypothetical account, however, the 1%
contributed to the insurance fund is non-refundable.
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PENSION INFORMATION
Total Pension Liability: The total pension liability ("TPL") was determined by an actuarial valuation as of

June 30, 2017, using the following actuarial assumptions, applied to all periods included in the
measurement:

Price inflation 2.30 percent

Salary increases 3.05 percent, average, including inflation

Investment rate of return 6.25 percent, net of pension plan investment expense, including
inflation

The mortality table used for active members is RP-2000 Combined Mortality Table projected with Scale BB
to 2013 (multiplied by 50% for males and 30% for females). For healthy retired members and beneficiaries,
the mortality table used is the RP-2000 Combined Mortality Table projected with Scale BB to 2013 (set
back 1 year for females). For disabled members, the RP-2000 Combined Disabled Mortality Table projected
with Scale BB to 2013 (set back 4 years for males) is used for the period after disability retirement. There
is some margin in the current mortality tables for possible future improvement in mortality rates and that
margin will be reviewed again when the next experience investigation is conducted. The actuarial
assumptions used in the June 30, 2017 valuation were based on the results of an actuarial experience
study for the period July 1, 2008 — June 30, 2013. Discount rate assumptions:

(a) Discount Rate: The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 6.25%, which
was reduced from the 7.50% discount rate used in the prior year.

(b)  Projected Cash Flows: The projection of cash flows used to determine the discount rate assumed
the local employers and plan members would contribute the statutorily determined contribution rate
of projected compensation over the remaining 26-year amortization period of the unfunded actuarial
accrued liability. The actuarial determined contribution rate is adjusted to reflect the phase in of
anticipated gains on actuarial value of assets over the first four years of the projection period.

(c) Long-Term Rate of Return: The long-term expected return on plan assets is reviewed as part of
the regular experience studies prepared every five years for the System. The most recent analysis,
performed for the period covering fiscal years 2008 through 2013 is outlined in a report dated April
30, 2014. However, the Board of KRS has the authority to review the assumptions on a more
frequent basis and adopt new assumptions prior to the next scheduled experience study. The long-
term expected rate of return was determined by using a building-block method in which best-
estimate ranges of expected future real rate of returns are developed for each asset class. The
ranges are combined by weighting the expected future real rate of retumn by the target asset
allocation percentage.

(d)  Municipal Bond Rate: The discount rate determination does not use a municipal bond rate.

(e)  Periods of Projected Benefit Payments: The long-term assumed rate of return was applied to all
periods of projected benefit payments to determine the total pension liability.

(Continued)
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()  Assumed Asset Allocation: The target asset allocation and best estimates of arithmetic real rates
of return for each major asset class are summarized in the following table:

Long-Term

Target Expected Real

Asset Class Allocation Rate of Return
US Equity 17.50% 5.97%
International Equity 17.50% 7.85%
Global Bonds 4.00% 2.63%
Global Credit 2.00% 3.63%
High Yield 7.00% 575%
Emerging Market Debt 5.00% 5.50%
Private Credit 10.00% 8.75%
Real Estate 5.00% 7.63%
Absolute Return 10.00% 5.63%
Real Return 10.00% 6.13%
Private Equity 10.00% 8.25%
Cash 2.00% 1.88%
Total 100.00% 6.56%

The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan assets was established by the KRS Board of
Trustees at 6.25% based on a blending of the factors described above.

(9) Sensitivity Analysis: This paragraph requires disclosure of the sensitivity of the net pension
liability to changes in the discount rate. The following presents TARC's allocated portion of the net
pension liability ("NPL") of the System, calculated using the discount rate of 6.25 percent, as well
as what TARC's allocated portion of the net pension liability would be if it were calculated using a
discount rate that is 1 percentage-~point lower (5.25 percent) or 1 percentage-point higher (7.25
percent) than the current rate:

Current
1% Decrease Discount Rate 1% Increase
(5.25%) (6.25%) (7.25%)
TARC’s net position liability -
Nonhazardous $ 96,626,961 $ 76,614,117 $ 59,873,523

Employer's Portion of the Collective Net Pension Liability: TARC's proportionate share of the net
pension liability, as indicated in the prior table, is $76,614,117, or approximately 1.31%. The net pension
liability was distributed based on 2017 actual employer contributions to the plan.

Measurement Date: June 30, 2017 is the actuarial valuation date and measurement date upon which the
total pension liability is based.
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Changes in Assumptions and Benefit Terms: Since the prior measurement date, the demographic and
economic assumptions that affect the measurement of the total pension liability have been updated as
follows:

e The assumed investment rate of return was decreased from 7.50% to 6.25%.
¢ The assumed rate of inflation was reduced from 3.25% to 2.30%.
e Payroll growth assumption was reduced from 4.00% to 3.05%.

Changes Since Measurement Date: There were no changes between the measurement date of the
collective net pension liability and the employer's reporting date.

Pension Expense: TARC was allocated pension expense of $13,750,795 related to the CERS for the year
ending June 30, 2018.

Deferred Outflows and Deferred Inflows: Since certain expense items are amortized over closed periods
each year, the deferred portions of these items must be tracked annually. If the amounts serve to reduce
pension expense they are labeled as deferred inflows. [f they will increase pension expense they are
labeled deferred outflows. The amortization of these amounts is accomplished on a level dollar basis, with
no interest included in the deferred amounts. Experience gains/losses and the impact of changes in
actuarial assumptions, if any, are amortized over the average remaining service life of the active and
inactive System members at the beginning of the fiscal year. Investment gains and losses are amortized
over a fixed five-year period. Deferred inflows and outflows as of the Measurement Date include:

Deferred Deferred
Outflows Inflows

of Resources

of Resources

Difference between expected and actual experience $ 95,026 $ 1,944,795
Change of assumptions 14,137,380 -
Changes in proportion and differences between employer
contributions and proportionate shares of contributions 660,107 794
Differences between expected and actual investment
earning on plan investments 947,628 -
15,840,141 1,945,589
Contributions subsequent to the measurement date 4,720,629 -
Total $ 20,560,770 $ 1,945 589
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Deferred outflows of resources resulting from employer contributions subsequent to the measurement date
of $4,720,629 will be recognized as a reduction of net pension liability in the year ending June 30, 2019.
The remainder of the deferred outflows and deferred inflows of resources are amortized over three to five
years with remaining amortization as follows:

Year ending June 30;

2019 $ 6,377,179
2020 5,931,185
2021 2,569,955
2022 (983,767)

$ 13,894,552

Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Position: Detailed information about the pension plans' fiduciary net position
is available in the separately issued pension plan financial reports.

OPEB INFORMATION

Total OPEB Liability: The total other postemployment benefits plan ("OPEB”) liability was determined by
an actuarial valuation as of June 30, 2017, using the following actuarial assumptions, applied to all periods
included in the measurement:

Price inflation 2.30 percent

Payroll growth rate 2.00 percent

Salary increases 3.05 percent, average

Investment rate of return 6.25 percent

Healthcare trend rates:

Pre-65 Initial trend starting at 7.25 percent at January 1, 2012 and

gradually decreasing to an ultimate trend rate of 4.05 percent
over a period of 13 years.

Post-65 Initial trend starting at 5.10 percent at January 1, 2019 and
gradually decreasing to an ultimate trend rate of 4.05 percent
over a period of 11 years.

The mortality table used for active members is RP-2000 Combined Mortality Table projected with Scale BB
to 2013 (multiplied by 50% for males and 30% for females). For healthy retired members and beneficiaries,
the mortality table used is the RP-2000 Combined Mortality Table projected with Scale BB to 2013 (set
back 1 year for females). For disabled members, the RP-2000 Combined Disabled Mortality Table
projected with Scale BB to 2013 (set back 4 years for males) is used for the period after disability retirement.
There is some margin in the current mortality tables for possible future improvement in mortality rates and
that margin will be reviewed again when the next experience investigation is conducted. The actuarial
assumptions used in the June 30, 2017 valuation were based on the results of an actuarial experience
study for the period July 1, 2008 — June 30, 2013.
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Discount rate assumptions:

(@)

(b)

()

(e)

Discount Rate: The discount rate used to measure the total OPEB liability was 5.84%, which
was reduced from the 8.89% discount rate used in the prior year.

Projected Cash Flows: The projection of cash flows used to determine the discount rate assumed
the local employers and plan members would contribute the actuarially determined contribution
rate of projected compensation over the remaining 26-year amortization period of the unfunded
actuarial accrued liability.

Long-Term Rate of Return: The long-term expected return on plan assets is reviewed as part of
the regular experience studies prepared every five years for the System. The most recent analysis,
performed for the period covering fiscal years 2008 through 2013 is outlined in a report dated April
30, 2014. However, the Board of KRS has the authority to review the assumptions on a more
frequent basis and adopt new assumptions prior to the next scheduled experience study. The long-
term expected rate of return was determined by using a building-block method in which best-
estimate ranges of expected future real rate of returns are developed for each asset class. The
ranges are combined by weighting the expected future real rate of return by the target asset
allocation percentage.

Municipal Bond Rate: The discount rate determination used a municipal bond rate of 3.56% as
reported in Fidelity Index’s “20 —~ Year Municipal GO AA Index” as of June 30, 2017.

Period of Projected Benefit Payments: Current assets, future contributions, and investment
earnings are projected to be sufficient to pay the projected benefit payments from the retirement
system. However, the cost associated with the implicit employer subsidy is not currently being
included in the calculation of the system’s actuarial determined contributions, and it is the actuary’s
understanding that any cost associated with the implicit subsidy will not be paid out of the system’s
trust. Therefore, the municipal bond rate was applied to future expected benefit payments
associated with the implicit subsidy.
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(f)

(9)

Assumed Asset Allocations: The target asset allocation and best estimates of arithmetic real
rates of return for each major asset class are summarized in the following table:

Long-Term

Target Expected Real

Asset Class Allocation Rate of Return
US Equity 17.50% 5.97%
International Equity 17.50% 7.85%
Global Bonds 4.00% 2.63%
Global Credit 2.00% 3.63%
High Yield 7.00% 5.75%
Emerging Market Debt 5.00% 5.50%
Private Credit 10.00% 8.75%
Real Estate 5.00% 7.63%
Absolute Return 10.00% 5.63%
Real Return 10.00% 6.13%
Private Equity 10.00% 8.25%
Cash 2.00% 1.88%
Total 100.00% 8.56%

The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan assets was established by the KRS Board
of Trustees at 6.25% based on a blending of the factors described above.

Sensitivity Analysis: This paragraph requires disclosure of the sensitivity of the net OPEB liability
to changes in the discount rate and changes in the healthcare cost trend rate.

The following presents TARC's allocated portion of the net OPEB liability of the System, calculated
using the discount rate of 5.84% percent, as well as what TARC's allocated portion of the System’s
net OPEB liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1-percentage-point
lower (4.84 percent) or 1-percentage-point higher (6.84 percent) than the current rate for non-
hazardous:

Current
1% Decrease Discount Rate 1% Increase
(4.84%) (5.84%) (6.84%)
Net OPEB liability 33,482,377 26,313,427 20,347,734
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The following presents TARC's allocated portion of the net OPEB liability of the System, calculated using
the healthcare cost trend rate of percent, as well as what the TARC's allocated portion of the System'’s net
OPERB liability would be if it were calculated using a healthcare cost trend rate that is 1-percentage-point
lower or 1-percentage-point higher than the current rate for non-hazardous:

Current Healthcare
1% Decrease Cost Trend Rate 1% Increase

Net OPEB liability 20,183,753 26,313,423 34,281,644

Employer's Portion of the Collective OPEB Liability: TARC's proportionate share of the net OPEB
liability, as indicated in the prior table, is $26,313,427, or approximately 1.31%. The net OPEB liability was
distributed based on 2017 actual employer contributions to the plan.

Measurement Date: June 30, 2017 is the actuarial valuation date and measurement date upon which the
total pension liability is based.

Changes in Assumptions and Benefit Terms: Since the prior measurement date, the demographic and
economic assumptions that affect the measurement of the total OPER liability have been updated as
follows:

» The assumed investment rate of return was decreased from 7.50% to 6.25%.
* The assumed rate of inflation was reduced from 3.25% to 2.30%.
e Payroll growth assumption was reduced from 4.00% to 3.05%.

Changes Since Measurement Date: There were no changes between the measurement date of the
collective net OPEB liability and the employer's reporting date.

OPEB Expense: TARC was allocated OPEB expense of $2,998,512 related to the CERS for the year
ending June 30, 2018.

(Continued)
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TRANSIT AUTHORITY OF RIVER CITY
(A COMPONENT UNIT OF LOUISVILLE/
JEFFERSON COUNTY METRO GOVERNMENT)
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
June 30, 2018

NOTE 9 — DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION AND OTHER POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS PLAN —
COST SHARING - CERS (continued)

Deferred Outflows and Deferred Inflows: Since certain expense items are amortized over closed periods
each year, the deferred portions of these items must be tracked annually. If the amounts serve to reduce
OPEB expense they are labeled as deferred inflows. If they will increase OPEB expense they are labeled
deferred outflows. The amortization of these amounts is accomplished on a level dollar basis, with no
interest included in the deferred amounts. Experience gains/losses and the impact of changes in actuarial
assumptions, if any, are amortized over the average remaining service life of the active and inactive System
members at the beginning of the fiscal year. Investment gains and losses are amortized over a fixed five-
year period. Deferred inflows and outflows as of the Measurement Date include:

Deferred Deferred
Outflows Inflows
of Resources of Resources

Difference between expected and actual experience $ - $ 73,084
Change of assumptions 5,725,636 -
Changes in proportion and differences between employer
contributions and proportionate shares of contributions - 61,054
Differences between expected and actual investment
earnings on plan investments - 1,243 559
5,725,636 1,377,697
Contributions subsequent to the measurement date 1,853,844 -
Total $ 7579480 $ 1,377,697

Deferred outflows of resources resulting from employer contributions subsequent to the measurement date
of $1,853,844, which includes the implicit subsidy reported of $321,596, will be recognized as a reduction
of net OPEB liability in the year ending June 30, 2019. The remainder of the deferred outflows and deferred
inflows of resources are amortized over three to five years with remaining amortization as follows:

Year ending June 30:

2019 $ 748,108
2020 748,106
2021 748,106
2022 748,106
Thereafter 1,355,515

$ 4,347,939

OPEB Plan Fiduciary Net Position: Detailed information about the OPEB plans' fiduciary net position is
available in the separately issued OPEB plan financial reports.

(Continued)
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TRANSIT AUTHORITY OF RIVER CITY
(A COMPONENT UNIT OF LOUISVILLE/
JEFFERSON COUNTY METRO GOVERNMENT)
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
June 30, 2018

NOTE 10 — DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLAN — SINGLE EMPLOYER

Benefits Provided: At June 30, 2018, the following employees were covered by the benefit terms:

Retirees and beneficiaries currently receiving benefits 64

All full-time employees, who were employed by TARC prior to September 1, 1991, were eligible to
participate in the Plan beginning with the first full month of service. Benefits vested after five years of
service and are based on a monthly rate per year of service with monthly maximum benefits ranging from
$710 to $890 based on retirement or termination date. Benefit payments are established or may be
amended by the TARC Pension Board. The Plan also provides death and disability benefits. Effective
September 1, 2010, the Plan elected an annual 2% increase, at March 1 each year, in monthly benefit
payments for the years 2011-2016, 0% increase for year 2017, annual 2% increase at March 1 each year,
in monthly benefit payments for years 2018-2019.

Contributions: TARC contributes to the Plan an amount needed to maintain the Plan in a sound condition
as determined periodically on the basis of an actuarial valuation. Contribution requirements are established
or may be amended by the TARC Pension Board. Significant actuarial assumptions used to compute
contribution requirements are the same as those used to compute the pension benefit obligation.

The actuarially determined contribution amount is based upon the sum of gross normal cost plus funding
of past service costs over 10 years, less anticipated employee contributions. The actuarially determined
contribution amount as of June 30, 2018 was $437,080. The Plan recognized $438,954 of employer
contributions as of June 30, 2018. During their employment with TARC, eligible employees were required
to contribute an amount per hour that was agreed to in the bargaining agreement.

Employee contributions were determined using the following amounts per hour:

March 1990 to August 1991 $ 0.375
September 1991 to December 2004 $ 0425

The final employee eligible to contribute into this Plan retired in 2004 therefore, there were no employee
contributions to the Plan after that time.

Net Pension Liability: TARC'’s net pension liability was measured as of January 1, 2018 and the total
pension liability used to calculate the net pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of
that date.

Actuarial Assumptions: The total pension liability in the January 1, 2018 actuarial valuation was
determined used the following actuarial assumptions, applied to all periods included in the measurement:

Cost of living adjustment 2.0%
Investment rate of return 7.0%

Mortality rates were based on RP-2014 Generational Mortality Tables (Blue Collar) adjusted to 2006 with
projected improvements after year 2006 under Projection Scale MP-2017 {male and female scales).

(Continued)
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TRANSIT AUTHORITY OF RIVER CITY
(A COMPONENT UNIT OF LOUISVILLE/
JEFFERSON COUNTY METRO GOVERNMENT)
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
June 30, 2018

NOTE 10 —~ DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLAN - SINGLE EMPLOYER (Continued)

Actuarial valuation method was based on the Entry Age Normal Cost Method, with the unfunded actuarial
liability amortized over 10 years and a future liability changes amortized over average expected future
lifetime.

Asset valuation method based on the market value adjusted for accruals.

Provision for expenses based on the replacement of prior year's expenses paid from the trust.

Changes in_Assumptions: Since the prior measurement date, the demographic and economic

assumptions that affect the measurement of the total pension liability have been updated as described in
the summary of actuarial assumptions. The changes are noted below:

e The mortality table changed from the RP-2014 Generational Mortality Tables (Blue Collar) adjusted
to 2006 with projected mortality improvements after year 2006 under Projection Scale MP-2016
(male and female scales) to the RP-2014 Generational Mortality Tables (Blue Collar) adjusted to
2006 with projected mortality improvements after year 2006 under Projection Scale MP-2017 (male
and female scales).

The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was determined using a building block
method in which best-estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return (expected returns, net of
pension plan investment expense and inflation) are developed for each major asset class. These ranges
are combined to produce the long-term expected rate of return by weighting the expected future real rates
of return by the target asset allocation percentage and by adding expected inflation.

Assumed Asset Allocations: The target allocation and best estimates of arithmetic real rates of return
for each major asset class are summarized in the following table:

Long-Term Expected

Asset Class Target Allocation Real Rate of Return
Equities 60% 3.3
Fixed income 40% 4.8

Total 100%

Discount Rate: The discount rate used tc measure the total pension liability was 7.0 percent. Based on
projected future contributions, benefit payments and investment returns, the pension plan’s fiduciary net
position was projected to be available to make all projected future benefit payments of current active and
inactive employees. Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was
applied to all periods of projected benefit payments to determine the total pension liability. The projection
of cash flows used to determine the discount rate assumed that TARC would contribute the actuarially
determined contribution rate of projected compensation over the remaining 10-year amortization period of
the unfunded actuarial accrued liability.

(Continued)
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NOTE 10 — DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLAN - SINGLE EMPLOYER (Continued)

Changes in the Net Pension Liability:

Increase (Decrease)
Total Pension Plan Fiduciary  Net Pension

Liability Net Position Liability
(a) (b) (@) =(b)
Balances at January 1, 2017 $ 3,862,663 $1,128.400 $ 2.734.263
Changes for the year:
Interest 250,828 - 250,828
Differences between expected and
actual experience 30,844 - 30,844
Contributions ~ employer - 438,954 (438,954)
Net investment income - 127,536 (127,536)
Benefit payments, including refunds
of employee contributions (609,620) (609,620) -
Assumption changes (48,849) - (48,849)
Administrative expenses - (63,697) 63,697
Net changes (376.797) (106.827) (269.970)
Balances at December 31, 2017 $ 3485866 $1,021573 $ 2464293

Sensitivity of the Net Pension Liability to Changes in the Discount Rate: The following presents the
net pension liability of TARC, calculated using the discount rate of 7.0 percent, as well as what TARC's net
pension liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1-percentage point lower (6.0
percent) or 1-percentage point higher (8.0 percent) than the current rate:

Current
1% Decrease  Discount Rate 1% Increase
(6.00%) (7.00%) (8.00%)
TARC'’s net pension liability $ 2,640,795 $ 2,464,293 $ 2,304,285

Pension Expense, Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources: For the year

ended June 30, 2018, TARC recognized pension expense of $236,522 related to the Plan.

At June 30, 2018, TARC reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related
to the Plan from the following sources:

Deferred Qutflows Deferred Inflows

Differences between expected and actual

investment earnings on plan investments $ - $ 9,167
Total $ - $ 9,167
(Continued)
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NOTE 10 — DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLAN - SINGLE EMPLOYER (Continued)

Deferred inflows of resources resulting from the differences between projected and actual investment
earnings on Plan investments are amortized over a 10-year period with remaining amortization as follows:

Year ending December 31:

2018 $ 2,702
2019 2,703
2020 12,977
2021 (11,879)
2022 (15,670)

Total $ (9.167)

Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Position: Detailed information about the pension plans' fiduciary net position
is available in the separately issued audited pension plan financial reports. A copy of the separately issued
audit report may be requested from the Director of Finance, 1000 W. Broadway, Louisville, KY 40203.
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TRANSIT AUTHORITY OF RIVER CITY
(A COMPONENT UNIT OF LOUISVILLE/
JEFFERSON COUNTY METRO GOVERNMENT)
REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION
SCHEDULE OF CHANGES IN TARC'S NET PENSION LIABILITY -
EMPLOYEES' AMENDED RETIREMENT PLAN
June 30, 2018

2018 2017 20186 2015
Total pension liability
Interest $ 250,828 $ 270,473 $ 286,547 $ 322,907
Differences between expected and actual
experience 30,844 9,170 (192,112) (116,612)
Changes of assumptions (48,849) 87,324 356,697 9,687
Benefit payments, including refunds (609,620) (679,756) (738,404) (799,005)
Net change in total pension liability (376,797) (312,789) (287,272) (583,023)
Total pension liability, beginning 3,862,663 4,175,452 4,462,724 5,045,747
Total pension liability, ending $ 3485866 $ 3862663 $ 4175452 § 4462724
Plan fiduciary net position
Contributions — employee $ 438,954 $ 438,660 $ 419912 $ 468,338
Net investment income 127,536 77,165 (19,825) 171,041
Benefit payments, including refunds of
employee (609,620) (679,756) (738,404) (799,005)
Administrative expense (63.697) (45,405) (44,274) (59,466)
Net change in plan fiduciary net position (106,827) (209,336) (382,591) (219,092)
Plan fiduciary net position, beginning 1,128,400 1,337,736 1,720,327 1.939.419
Plan fiduciary net position, ending 1,021,573 $ 1,128,400 $ 1337736 $ 1,720,327
TARC’s net pension liability, ending $ 2464293 $ 2734263 $ 2837,716 $ 2,742,397
Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage
of the total pension liability 29.31% 29.21% 32.04% 38.55%
Covered payroll $ - % - 3% - 3 -
Authority’s net pension liability as a
percentage of covered-employee payroll N/A N/A N/A N/A

The amounts presented for each fiscal year were determined as of the December 31 year-end that occurred
within the fiscal year.

This schedule is presented to illustrate the requirements to show information for 10 years. However, until
a full 10-year trend is compiled, TARC is presenting information for those years for which information is
available.
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TRANSIT AUTHORITY OF RIVER CITY
(A COMPONENT UNIT OF LOUISVILLE/
JEFFERSON COUNTY METRO GOVERNMENT)
REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION
SCHEDULE OF TARC'S CONTRIBUTIONS
EMPLOYEES' AMENDED RETIREMENT PLAN
June 30, 2018

2018 201 2016 2015

Actuarially determined contribution $ 437,080 $ 423,077 $ 444125 $ 444125
Contributions in relation to the actuarially

determined contribution 438,954 426,241 419,912 468,338
Annual contribution deficiency (excess) $ (1874 $ (3164) $ 24213 $ (24213)
TARC'’s covered payroll $ - $ - $ $ -
The Authority’s contributions as a percentage

of its covered employee payroll N/A N/A N/A N/A

Notes to Schedule

Valuation Date:
Actuarial Cost Method:
Amortization Method:

January 1, 2018
Entry age normal cost method
Level Dollar

Remaining Amortization Period: 10 years

Asset Valuation Method:
Inflation:
Salary Increases:

Investment Rate of Return:

Market value less accrued expenses
2.0%

Not applicable, as all beneficiaries are retired and the plan

is closed to new entrants.
7.00%

Retirement Age:

Mortality:

Not applicable, as all beneficiaries are retired and the plan
is closed to new entrants.

RP-2014 Generational Mortality Tables (Blue Collar)
adjusted to 2006 with protected mortality improvements
after year 2006 under protection scale MP-2016

This schedule is presented to illustrate the requirements to show information for 10 years. However, until
a full 10-year trend is compiled, TARC is presenting information for those years for which information is

available.
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TRANSIT AUTHORITY OF RIVER CITY

(A COMPONENT UNIT OF LOUISVILLE/
JEFFERSON COUNTY METRO GOVERNMENT)
REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

SCHEDULE OF TARC'S PROPORTIONATE SHARE OF THE NET PENSION LIABILITY -

COUNTY EMPLOYEES RETIREMENT SYSTEM - NON-HAZARDOUS

June 30, 2018

2018 2017 2016

TARC's proportion of the net

pension liability 1.309% 1.311% 1.280%
TARC'’s proportionate share of

the net pension $ 76,614,117 $ 64,540,703 $ 55,052,957
TARC’s covered payroll $32,089,620 $ 31,443815 § 30,004,788
TARC'’s proportion of the net

pension liability as a percentage

of its covered payroll 238.750% 205.257% 183.481%
Plan fiduciary net position

as a percentage of the total

pension liability 53.325% 55.503% 59.968%

2015

1.250%

$ 40,406,000

$ 30,655,572

131.806%

66.801%

The amounts presented for each fiscal year were determined as of the year-end that occurred one year

prior.

This schedule is presented to illustrate the requirement to show information for 10 years. However, until a
full 10-year trend is compiled, TARC is presenting information for those years for which information is

available.

Since the prior measurement date, the demographic and economic assumptions that affect the
measurement of total pension liability have not been updated.
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TRANSIT AUTHORITY OF RIVER CITY
(A COMPONENT UNIT OF LOUISVILLE/

JEFFERSON COUNTY METRO GOVERNMENT)
REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION
SCHEDULE OF TARC’S CONTRIBUTIONS
COUNTY EMPLOYEES' RETIREMENT SYSTEM — NON-HAZARDOUS
June 30, 2018

2018 201 2016 2015

Statutorily required contribution $ 4720629 $ 4,476,502 $ 3,905260 $ 3,825.610
Contributions in relation to the

statutorily required contribution (4,720.629) (4,476,502) (3.905,260) (3.825.610)
Annual contribution deficiency (excess) $ - 5 - 3 - 3 -
TARC’s contributions as a percentage

of statutorily required contribution

for pension 100% 100% 100% 100%
TARC's covered payroll $32,758,156 $ 32,089,620 $ 31,443,315 $ 30,004,788
Contributions as a percentage of

its covered payroll 14.411% 13.95% 12.42% 12.75%

This schedule is presented to illustrate the requirement to show information for 10 years. However, until a
full 10-year trend is compiled, TARC is presenting information for those years for which information is
available.

40.



TRANSIT AUTHORITY OF RIVER CITY
(A COMPONENT UNIT OF LOUISVILLE/
JEFFERSON COUNTY METRO GOVERNMENT)
REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION
SCHEDULE OF TARC’'S OPEB PROPORTINATE SCHEDULE OF THE NET OPEB LIABILITY
COUNTY EMPLOYEES’ RETIREMENT SYSTEM — NON-HAZARDQUS
June 30, 2018

2018
TARC's proportion of the net OPEB liability
Non-hazardous 1.308%

TARC's proportionate share of

the net OPEB liability $ 26,313,427
TARC's covered payroll $ 32,089,620
TARC’s proportion of the net

OPERB liability as a percentage

of its covered payroll 82.00%
Plan fiduciary net position

as a percentage of the total

OPEB liability 52.40%

*The amounts presented for each fiscal year were determined as of the year end that occurred one year
prior.

** This is a 10-year schedule. However, the information in this schedule is not required to be presented
retroactively. Years will be added to this schedule in future fiscal years until 10 years of information is
available.
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TRANSIT AUTHORITY OF RIVER CITY
(A COMPONENT UNIT OF LOUISVILLE/

JEFFERSON COUNTY METRO GOVERNMENT)
REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION
SCHEDULE OF TARC'S OPEB CONTRIBUTIONS
COUNTY EMPLOYEES’ RETIREMENT SYSTEM — NON-HAZARDOUS
June 30, 2018

2018

Statutorily required contribution $ 1,532,248
Contributions in relation to the

statutorily required contribution (1,632,248)
Annual contribution deficiency (excess) $ -
TARC'’s contributions as a percentage

of statutorily required contribution

for pension 100%
TARC’s covered payroll $ 32,758,156
Contributions as a percentage of

its covered payroll 4.68%

This schedule is presented to illustrate the requirement to show information for 10 years. However, until a
full 10-year trend is compiled, TARC is presenting information for those years for which information is
available.
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TRANSIT AUTHORITY OF RIVER CITY

(A COMPONENT UNIT OF LOUISVILLE/JEFFERSON COUNTY METRO GOVERNMENT)
SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION
BUDGET TO ACTUAL
Year ended June 30, 2018

Operating revenues
Passenger transportation
Special fares
Advertising
Interest
Charter Service
Other revenue
Recoveries
Total operating revenues

Operating expenditures
LLabor
Fringe benefits, budget basis
Plus: pension adjustments
Plus: OPEB adjustments
Net fringe benefits

Services
Development costs
Materials and supplies
Utilities
Casualty and insurance
Miscellaneous
Rentals and purchase
transportation
Interest
Depreciation
Loss on disposal
Total operating
expenditures

Operating loss before
capital outlay and subsidies

Subsidies

Mass Transit Trust Fund
and interest

Federal Transit Administration
and Pass-Through entities

Kentucky Transportation
Cabinet

Other

Total subsidies

Change in net position

Actual to Actual
GAAP Amounts

Budget Actual Differences GAAP Basis
$ 10,243,780 9,761,482 - $ 9,761,482
1,560,824 1,834,204 - 1,834,204
634,165 604,165 - 604,165
1,563 36,573 - 36,573
- 280,800 - 280,800
150,437 267,974 - 267,974
70,000 151,335 - 151,335
12,660,769 12,936,533 - 12,936,533
29,548,755 28,942,463 - 28,942,463
25,484,499 24,453,273 - 24,453,273
- - 8,858,568 8,858,568
- - 1,155.121 1,155,121
25,484,499 24,453,273 10,013,689 34,466,962
3,592,130 4,003,776 - 4,003,776
2,166,060 1,450,504 - 1,450,504
6,666,916 6,352,676 - 6,352,676
1,023,000 924,186 - 924,186
2,297,432 2,590,534 - 2,590,534
651,320 682,800 - 682,800
15,782,255 15,933,906 - 15,933,906
290 4,605 - 4,605
9,459,380 9,459,574 - 9,459,574
- 345 - 345
96,670,037 94,798,642 10,013,689 104,812,331

(84,009,268)

(81,862,109)

(10,013,689)

(91,875,798)

57,016,346 54,373,354 - 54,373,354
29,733,754 29,101,134 - 29,101,134
450,000 538,000 - 538,000
1,205,699 1,558,202 - 1.558.202
88,405,799 85,570,690 - 85,570,690

$ 4396531 3.708.581 $ (10013689 $ (6.305.108)

The operating budget for 2018, as shown above, represents the originally adopted budget for TARC. No
amendments were made to the budget during the year ended June 30, 2018,
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TRANSIT AUTHORITY OF RIVER CITY
(A COMPONENT UNIT OF LOUISVILLE/JEFFERSON COUNTY METRO GOVERNMENT)

SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS

Year ended June 30, 2018

CFDA Grant Number for
Federal Grantor/ Program or Cluster Title Number Pass-Through Federal Expenditures
Department of Transportation
Federal Transit Administration
Direct Programs:
Federal Transit Cluster:
Capital and Operating Assistance KY-80-X207,215,222,
228, 2016-007,021,
2017-008
KY-95-X010, X004,
X014, X015,
Formula Grants 20.507 2016-017 $ 21,015,817
Capital Investment Grants 20.500 KY-04-0040, 04-0047 2,208,714
Bus and Bus Facilities Formula KY-34-0008,
Program 20.526 2016-0006,015 3,204,340

Total Federal Transit Cluster

26,428,871

Transit Services Cluster:
Enhanced Mobility of Seniors
and Individuals with Disabilities 20.513

Job Access - Reverse Commute
Grant (JARC) Grants

KY-16-X009,
2016-016 2017-016 1,028,259

JARC 37-X019,

20.516 37-X020 25,182
New Freedom Program 20.521 FDM 57-X015 36,179
Total Transit Services
Programs Cluster 1,089,620
Public Transportation Research,
Technical Assistance and Training 20.514 KY-26-005 52,935
Capital Assistance Program for
Reducing Consumption and
Greenhouse Gas Emissions 20.523 KY-88-0001 913,595
Total Directly Received from the Federal
Transit Administration 28,485,021

Commonwealth of Kentucky
Pass-through programs:
Highway Planning and Construction Grants:

Kentucky Transportation Cabinet 20.205 912,968
Total Expenditures of Federal Awards $ 20,397,989

The following shows subrecipient activity for the year:

CEDA# Amount

20.513 $ 649,058

20.516 18,976
668,034

Total subrecipient activity

$ 668,034

See accompanying notes to schedule of expenditures of federal awards.
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TRANSIT AUTHORITY OF RIVER CITY
(A COMPONENT UNIT OF LOUISVILLE/JEFFERSON COUNTY METRO GOVERNMENT)
NOTES TO SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS
June 30, 2018

NOTE 1 — BASIS OF PRESENTATION

The accompanying Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards presents the activity of all federal financial
assistance programs received by the Transit Authority of River City (TARC). TARC's reporting entity is
defined in Note 1 to the audited financial statements.

NOTE 2 — BASIS OF ACCOUNTING

The accompanying schedule of expenditures of federal awards (the "Schedule") includes the federal award
activity of TARC under programs of the federal government for the year ended June 30, 2018. The
information in this Schedule is presented in accordance with the requirements of Title 2 U.S. Code of
Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit
Requirements for Federal Awards (Uniform Guidance). TARC has elected not to use the 10-percent
deminimus indirect cost rate as allowed under the Uniform Guidance. Because the Schedule presents only
a selected portion of the operations of TARC, it is not intended to and does not present the financial position,
changes in net assets, or cash flows of TARC.

Expenditures reported on the Schedule are reported on the accrual basis of accounting. Such expenditures
are recognized following, as applicable, either the cost principles in OMB Circular A-87, Cost Principles for
State and Local Governments, or the cost principles contained in Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations
Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal
Awards, wherein certain types of expenditures are not allowable or are limited as to reimbursement.
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Crowe

Crowe LLP

Independent Member Crowe Global

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING
AND ON COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS BASED ON AN AUDIT OF FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS PERFORMED IN ACCORDANCE WITH
GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS

Board of Directors
Transit Authority of River City
Louisville, Kentucky

We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the financial statements of the Transit Authority of
River City (TARC), a component unit of Louisville/Jefferson County Metro Government, as of and for the
year ended June 30, 2018, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise
TARC's basic financial statements, and have issued our report thereon dated October 2, 2018.

Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered TARC's internal control
over financial reporting (internal control) to determine the audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinion on the financial statements, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of TARC's internal control. Accordingly, we do not express
an opinion on the effectiveness of TARC's internal control.

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow management
or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct,
misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in
internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the entity’s
financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected on a timely basis. A significant
deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a
material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance.

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this
section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material
weaknesses or significant deficiencies. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any
deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses. However, material weaknesses
may exist that have not been identified.

(Continued)
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Compliance and Other Matters

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether TARC's financial statements are free of material
misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts,
and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on the
determination of financial statement amounts. However, providing an opinion on compliance with those
provisions was not an objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The
results of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be
reported under Government Auditing Standards.

Purpose of this Report

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial
reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness
of the entity’s internal control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in
accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the entity’s internal control and
compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other purpose.

Cvrme LLP
Crowe LLP

Louisville, Kentucky
October 2, 2018
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Crowe

Crowe LLP
Independent Member Crowe Global

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’'S REPORT ON COMPLIANCE FOR EACH MAJOR FEDERAL PROGRAM,;
REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER COMPLIANCE; AND REPORT ON THE SCHEDULE OF
EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS REQUIRED BY THE UNIFORM GUIDANCE

Board of Directors
Transit Authority of River City
Louisville, Kentucky

Report on Compliance for Each Major Federal Program

We have audited Transit Authority of River City's (TARC) compliance with the types of compliance
requirements described in the OMB Compliance Supplement that could have a direct and material effect
on each of TARC’s major federal programs for the year ended June 30, 2018. TARC’s major federal
programs are identified in the summary of auditor’s results section of the accompanying schedule of findings
and questioned costs.

Management’s Responsibility

Management is responsible for compliance with the requirements of laws, regulations, contracts, and grants
applicable to its federal programs.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on compliance for each of TARC'’s major federal programs based
on our audit of the types of compliance requirements referred to above. We conducted our audit of
compliance in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America; the
standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the
Comptroller General of the United States; and the audit requirements of Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal
Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for
Federal Awards (Uniform Guidance). Those standards and the Uniform Guidance require that we plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether noncompliance with the types of
compliance requirements referred to above that could have a direct and material effect on a major federal
program occurred. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence about TARC’s compliance with
those requirements and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the
circumstances.

We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion on compliance for each major federal
program. However, our audit does not provide a legal determination of TARC’s compliance.

Opinion on Each Major Federal Program
In our opinion, TARC complied, in all material respects, with the types of compliance requirements referred

to above that could have a direct and material effect on each of its major federal programs for the year
ended June 30, 2018.

(Continued)
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Report on Internal Control Over Compliance

Management of TARC is responsible for establishing and maintaining effective internal control over
compliance with the types of compliance requirements referred to above. In planning and performing our
audit of compliance, we considered TARC's internal control over compliance with the types of requirements
that could have a direct and material effect on each major federal program to determine the auditing
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
compliance for each major federal program and to test and report on internal control over compliance in
accordance with the Uniform Guidance, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of internal control over compliance. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the
effectiveness of TARC's internal control over compliance.

A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control over
compliance does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned
functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a
federal program on a timely basis. A material weakness in internal control over compliance is a deficiency,
or combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance, such that there is a reasonable possibility
that material noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal program will not be
prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis. A significant deficiency in internal control over
compliance is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance with a type
of compliance requirement of a federal program that is less severe than a material weakness in internal
control over compliance, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance.

Our consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in the first
paragraph of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control over compliance
that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies. We did not identify any deficiencies in internal
control over compliance that we consider to be material weaknesses. However, material weaknesses may
exist that have not been identified.

The purpose of this report on internal control over compliance is solely to describe the scope of our testing
of internal control over compliance and the results of that testing based on the requirements of the Uniform
Guidance. Accordingly, this report is not suitable for any other purpose.

Report on Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards Required by the Uniform Guidance

We have audited the financial statements of TARC as of and for the year ended June 30, 2018, and the
related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise TARC’s basic financial statements.
We issued our report thereon dated October 2, 2018, which contained an unmodified opinion on those
financial statements. Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the financial
statements that collectively comprise the basic financial statements. The accompanying schedule of
expenditures of federal awards is presented for purposes of additional analysis as required by the Uniform
Guidance and is not a required part of the basic financial statements. Such information is the responsibility
of management and was derived from and relates directly to the underlying accounting and other records
used to prepare the basic financial statements. The information has been subjected to the auditing
procedures applied in the audit of the financial statements and certain additional procedures, including
comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used
to prepare the basic financial statements or to the basic financial statements themselves, and other
additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America. In our opinion, the schedule of expenditure of federal awards is fairly stated in all material respects

in relation to the basic financial statements as a whole.

Crowe LLP
Louisville, Kentucky
October 2, 2018
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TRANSIT AUTHORITY OF RIVER CITY
(A COMPONENT UNIT OF LOUISVILLE/JEFFERSON COUNTY METRO GOVERNMENT)
SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS
Year ended June 30, 2018

PART I: SUMMARY OF AUDITORS’ RESULTS

Financial Statements
Type of auditors’ report issued Unmodified

Internal control over financial reporting:

Material weakness(es) identified? Yes X No
Significant deficiency identified not None
considered to be material weaknesses? Yes X Reported

Noncompliance material to financial
statements noted? Yes X No

Federal Awards
Internal control over major programs:

Material weakness(es) identified? Yes X No
Significant deficiency identified not None
considered to be material weakness(es)? Yes X Reported

Type of auditors’ report issued on compliance for
major programs Unmodified

Any audit findings disclosed that are
required to be reported in accordance with
2CFR200.516(a)? Yes X No

Identification of major programs:

CFDA Number(s) Name of Federal Program or Cluster Number
Total Federal Transit Cluster consisting of:
20.500 Capital Investment Grants
20.507 Formula Grants
20.526 Bus and Bus Facilities Formula Program

Dollar threshold used to distinguish between

Type A and Type B programs $ 881.940
Auditee qualified as low-risk auditee? X Yes No

SECTION 2 - FINDINGS RELATED TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS THAT ARE REQUIRED TO BE
REPORTED IN ACCORDANCE WITH GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS

None reported.
SECTION 3 — FEDERAL AWARDS FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS

None reported.
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TRANSIT AUTHORITY OF RIVER CITY
(A COMPONENT UNIT OF LOUISVILLE/JEFFERSON COUNTY METRO GOVERNMENT)
SUMMARY OF PRIOR YEAR FINDINGS
Year ended June 30, 2018

There were no outstanding findings of questioned costs remaining from prior years.
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Boles, Brian

From: Adams, Mark <madams@ridetarc.org>
Sent: Monday, December 10, 2018 3:06 PM
To: Boles, Brian

Cc: acopic@ridetarc.org

Subject: RE: Garbage cans - Dixie

Hi Brian — | don’t see a problem with a contract thru Outfront. The cost is $14.00 per week per location from Hometown
Hauling ( 9 x $14 x 52 = $6,552 per year). —

We obtained this price quote recently and I think we can contract thru Outfront because of their Franchise agreement
with TARC.

Thanks,
Mark

From: Boles, Brian [mailto:Brian.Boles@Iouisvilleky.gov]
Sent: Monday, December 10, 2018 1:50 PM

To: Adams, Mark

Cc: Copic, Aida

Subject: RE: Garbage cans - Dixie

Mark,

Trying to follow up to the second part of my previous email. | appreciate you forwarding me the original email |
accidentally deleted, however | hope you can help me in identifying:

“Councilman Yates would be very interested in contracting with a company to pick up all D25 receptacles and | believe
D14 would be interested in doing so as well if we had an estimate to fund it for a year or two. Is it possible for TARC to
contract this out and we fund TARC for this?”

Thank you,

Ban Boles

Legislative Assistant

Councilman David Yates

District 25

601 West Jefferson St, 1st floor
Louisville, KY 40202

Email: brian.boles@louisvilleky.gov
Office: (502) 574-1125

Click HERE to sign up for the weekly District 25 eNews!

Notice of Confidentiality: This e-mail, including any attachments, is intended only for the use of the individual or entity to
which it is addressed and may contain confidential information that is legally privileged and exempt from disclosure under
applicable law. If the reader of this message is not the intended recipient, you are notified that any review, use, disclosure,
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wW-9
Form

(Rev. Ootober 2007)

Department of the Treasury
Intemal Revenue Service

Request for Taxpayer
Identification Number and Certification

Give form to the
requester. Do not
send to the IRS.

Name {(as shown on your income tax retumn)

TRANSIT AUTHORITY OF RIVER CITY

Business name, if different from above

DBA: TARC

Check appropriate box: D Individual/Sole proprietor

Other {see instructions) » QUASI GOV'T

D Corporation
Limited liability company. Enter the tax classification (D=disregarded entity, C=corporation, P=partnership) » _._____ payee

D Partnership Exempt

Address (number, street, and apt. or suite no.}

1000 W BROADWAY

Requester's name and address {optional)

City, state, and ZIP code
LOUISVILLE, KY 40203

List account number(s) here (optional)

Print or type
See Specific Instructions on page 2.

Taxpayer ldentification Number {TIN)

| Part ||

Enter your TIN in the appropriate box. The TIN provided must match the name given on Line 1 to avoid
backup withholding. For individuals, this is your social security number (SSN}. However, for a resident : i
alien, sole proprietor, or disregarded entity, see the Part | instructions on page 3. For other entities, it is

your employer identification number (EIN). If you do not have a number, see How to get a TIN on page 3.

Note. if the account is in more than one name, see the chart on page 4 for guidelines on whose

number to enter.

Sarcial security number
1}

or
[ Employer identification number
61 : 0863161

EEE3l  Certification

Under penaities of perjury, | centify that:

1. The number shown on this form is my correct taxpayer identification number (or | am waiting for a number to be issued to me), and

2. 1 am not subject to backup withholding because: (g} [ am exempt from backup withholding, or {b) | have not been notified by the Internal
Revenue Service (RS} that | am subject to backup withholding as a result of a failure to report all interest or dividends, or (c) the IRS has

natified me that | am no longer subject to backup withholding, and

3. lam a U.S. citizen or other U.S. person {defined belaw).

Certification instructions. You must cross out item 2 above if you have been notified by the IRS that you are currently subject to backup
withholding because you have failed to report ail interest and dividends on your tax return, For real estate transactions, item 2 does not apply.
For mortgage interest paid, acquisition or abandonment of secured property, cancellation of debt, contributions to an individual retirement
arrangement ({RA), and generally, payments other than interest and dividends, you are not required to sign the Gertification, but you must

provide your correct TIN, See the inst;\uctions on page 4.

Sign Signature of

Here U.S. person » v—ﬁlﬂ‘ll—(i

(e

Date P

1225

R N—— i
General Instructions ‘\)

Section references are to the Intemal Revenue Code uniess
otherwise noted.

Purpose of Form

A person who is required to file an information return with the
IRS must obtain your correct taxpayer identification number (TIN)
to report, for example, income paid to you, real estate
transactions, mortgage interest you paid, acquisition or
abandonment of secured property, cancellation of debt, or
contributions you made to an {RA.

Use Form W-9 only if you are a U.S. person (including a
resident alien), to provide your correct TIN to the person
requiesting it (the requester) and, when applicable, to:

1. Certify that the TIN you are giving is correct {(or you are
waliting for a nurnber 1o be issued), .

2. Certify that you are not subject to backup withholding, or

3. Claim exemption from backup withholding if you are a U.S.
exempt payee. If applicable, you are also certifying that as a
U.S. person, your allocable share of any partnership income from
a LS. trade or business is not subject to the withholding tax on
foreign partners’ share of effectively connected income.

Note. If a requester gives you a form other than Form W-9 to
request your TIN, you must use the requester’s form if it is
substantially similar to this Form W-9.

Definition of a U.S. person. For federal tax purposes, you are
considered a U.S. person if you are:

® An individual who is a U.S. citizen or U.S. resident alien,

# A partnership, corporation, company, or association created or
organized in the United States or under the laws of the United
States,

* An estate (other than a foreign estate), or

® A domestic trust (as defined in Regulations section
301.7701-7).

Special rules for partnerships. Partnerships that conduct a
trade or business in the United States are generally required to
pay a withholding tax on any foreign partners’ share of income
from such business. Further, in certain cases where a Form W-9
has not been received, a partnership is required to presume that
a partner is a foreign person, and pay the withholding tax.
Therefore, if you are a U.S. person that is a partner in a
partnership conducting a trade or business in the United States,
provide Form W-8 to the partnership to establish your U.S.
status and avoid withholding on your share of partnership
income.

The persan who gives Form W-9 to the partnership for
purposes of establishing its U.S. status and avoiding withholding
on its allocable share of net income from the partnership
conducting a trade or business in the United States is in the
following cases:

® The U.S. owner of a disregarded entity and not the entity,

Cat, No. 10231

Form W-9 Rev. 10-2007)



